UNIVERSITY OF NAPLES FEDERICO II



PH.D. PROGRAM IN

CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE

CURRICULUM IN ODONTOSTOMATOLOGICAL SCIENCES

XXXIV Cycle

(Years 2018-2021)

Chairman: Prof. Francesco Beguinot

PH.D. THESIS

DESIGN OF 3D ADDITIVELY MANUFACTURED SCAFFOLDS AND COLLABORATIVE BIOMANUFACTURING SYSTEMS FOR TISSUE ENGINEERING

TUTORS

Prof.Vincenzo D'Antò Prof. Roberto De Santis PH.D. STUDENT

Dr. Andrea Rega

"If you are not failing your time, you are not doing R&D. If everything works, you are not asking tough enough questions"

Abstract

Additive Manufacturing (AM) technologies represent a useful and cost-effective tool for the timely fabrication of geometrically complex objects. The suitability of AM in achieving complex shapes, the accuracy, the reproducibility, and the high degree of automation of the processes, have contributed to affirm the great utility of these technologies in several contexts, including medical and healthcare. AM technologies enabled to rapidly fabricate medical devices meeting patient-specific requirements and, as a result, they have greatly enhanced routine clinical procedures.

This work provides an overview of the different AM classes as classified by the ISO reference standards, then focusing on the main applications of these technologies in the medical field. In the field of Tissue Engineering (TE), AM enables the designing and manufacturing of customized scaffolds with complex shapes, lightweight, and tailored properties, mimicking closely the heterogeneity and complexity of tissues and organs to substitute or promote tissue healing and regeneration.

Bone tissue regeneration has particularly benefited from these scaffold-based approaches. The usage of scaffolds as temporary three-dimensional frameworks to provide structural support for cell growth, proliferation and adhesion during the regenerative process, the ideal features of such constructs, are the main topics addressed by this work. A focus on the porosity effect on both biological and mechanical features of scaffolds is presented.

Magnetic nanocomposite scaffolds were designed and manufactured by means of AM to investigate the possible enhancing in bone tissue regeneration due to the magnetic characteristics of the constructs. The work reports the analysis of the role of magnetic features on biological performance. Even the mechanical characteristics of scaffolds were improved by using magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) as reinforcement of the polymeric matrices.

Despite the encouraging outcomes of scaffold-based TE, the commercial translation of Additive Manufacturing technologies for scaffold fabrication is still a challenge. The production methodology of 3D scaffolds for tissue regeneration is a complex and discontinuous process involving several stages going from the isolation of the stem cells to the in vitro dynamic cell culture. Even though in this scenario industries are increasingly implementing automated robotic systems, current technologies are not sufficient for the development of large industrial scale scaffold fabrication.

Accordingly, a relevant improvement could raise from the implementation of a modern collaborative workplace in an existing production line, combining strength endurance and accuracy of cobots, with intelligence, flexibility and adaptability of the human being. In a such system, the drawbacks related to the low level of process control, low productivity and risk of contaminations may be solved. Therefore, the current work also proposes a systematic approach to the design of collaborative biomanufacturing systems. The last chapter of this work provides a further insight into the potential to upscale the scaffolds manufacturing process, taking advantage of the possibilities given from the Human-Robot Collaboration (HRC), and gives evidence of critical features for workplace definition.

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
List of Figu	resvii
List of Table	esix
Chapter 1.	Additive Manufacturing for healthcare1
1.1. Int	roduction1
1.2. Cla	assification of AM processes2
1.2.1.	Vat Photopolymerization2
1.2.2.	Material Extrusion
1.2.3.	Powder Bed Fusion7
1.2.4.	Binder Jetting
1.2.5.	Directed Energy Deposition10
1.2.6.	Material Jetting
1.2.7.	Sheet Lamination
1.2.8.	Bioprinting14
1.3. Bio	omedical applications of AM technologies15
1.3.1.	Tissue Engineering16
1.3.2.	Bioprinting Tissues and Organs16
1.3.3.	Surgical Tools17
1.3.4.	Anatomical Models for Surgical Preparation18
1.3.5.	Custom made implants and Prosthetics18

1.3.6.	Clinical applications in dentistry and orthopedics
1.4. B	iocompatible materials for AM20
1.4.1.	Bioinks
1.4.2.	Biomaterial inks
1.5. T	he designing of patient-specific devices
1.6. C	onclusions
Reference	ces
Chapter 2.	The designing and manufacturing of scaffolds for hard tissue regeneration
2.1. Ir	troduction
2.1.1.	Scaffolds for bone tissue engineering: basic concepts
2.1.2.	Additively manufactured scaffolds: composition and most used AM techniques37
2.1.3.	Additively manufactured magnetic scaffolds43
2.2. Se	caffold Design for AM45
2.2.1.	Cellular Design45
2.2.2.	The whole Design
2.3. C	onclusion
Reference	ces53
Chapter 3.	Design of 3D additively manufactured scaffolds with integrated functionalities for bone
tissue engi	neering

References	91

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Vat Photopolymerization process schematic representation [21]3
Figure 1.2. Schematic representation of Material Extrusion systems [1]
Figure 1.3. Schematic representation of Liquid Deposition Modelling [21]7
Figure 1.4. Schematic representation of the SLS process [1]
Figure 1.5. Schematic representation of Binder Jetting technology [21]10
Figure 1.6. Schematic representation of DED process [1]11
Figure 1.7. Schematic representation of Material Jetting process [21]13
Figure 1.8. Schematic representation of Sheet Lamination process [21]14
Figure 1.9. Bioprinting techniques: (a) inkjet-based bioprinting; (b) laser-assisted bioprinting; (c)
extrusion-based bioprinting [19]15
Figure 1.10. The main steps involved in the fabrication of additively manufactured medical devices
[3]23
Figure 2.1. The BCC unit and its variants: (a) the original BCC unit; (b) the BCCz unit; (c) the
reinforced BCC unit by adding vertical stiffeners through the center of the unit; (d) the pillar BCC
unit (adapted from [3])46
Figure 2.2 . The Diamond unit [3]47
Figure 2.3. The rhombic dodecahedron cell unit [3]
Figure 2.4. The Voronoi unit cells [3]
Figure 3.1. Schematic representation of a cross section viewed in the XZ plane of the manufacturing
process and the 3D structure of an additive manufactured scaffold with $0/90^{\circ}$ lay-down pattern.
Symbols are denoted as RW: road width or filament diameter; FG: filament gap; ST: slice thickness;
LG: layer gap; FD: filament distance, i.e., center to center distance (the image was adapted from [9]
and [10])65

Figure 3.2. A scheme of the experimental setup employed for magnetic stimulation of the cell-laden
constructs. The image was adapted from [8]67
Figure 3.3. Typical stress–strain curves reporting the compressive mechanical response of 3D PCL
and PCL/Fe ₃ O ₄ (90/10 w/w) scaffolds with a 0/90° lay-down pattern (rate of 1 mm/min, final strain
of 40%)69
Figure 3.4. Percentage of Alamar Blue reduction evaluated for PCL, PCL/Fe ₃ O ₄ , PCL MAG and
PCL/Fe ₃ O ₄ MAG at different time points71
Figure 3.5. Normalized alkaline phosphatase activity (ALP/DNA) for PCL, PCL/Fe ₃ O ₄ , PCL MAG
and PCL/Fe ₃ O ₄ MAG at 3, 7, and 14 days after cell seeding72
Figure 3.6. Shape factor evaluated from CLSM images of hMSCs on PCL, PCL/Fe ₃ O ₄ , PCL MAG
and PCL/Fe ₃ O ₄ MAG at different time points73
Figure 4.1. Different levels of interaction between human and robot (adapted and modified from [9]).
Figure 4.2. The main spaces within the HRC workplace according to ISO standards [20]83
Figure 4.3. Flowchart representing the main phases of the proposed algorithm [20]
Figure 4.4. The HRC workplace layout generated by using the proposed approach [20]

List of Tables

Table 1.1. Additive Manufacturing categories: classification according to ISO/ASTM 52900 and the
related commercial names4
Table 1.2. Comparison among AM technologies (adapted from [22]). 4
Table 1.3 . Comparison of three category of bioprinting on distinct parameters [67]. 17
Table 1.4. AM applications in dentistry and mostly used materials [73]
Table 2.1. Polymeric 3D printed scaffolds for bone tissue engineering (adapted from [5])
Table 3.1. Mechanical properties of 3D PCL and PCL/Fe3O4 scaffolds: compressive modulus (E)
and maximum stress (σ_{max})

Chapter 1. Additive Manufacturing for healthcare

1.1. Introduction

Over the last four decades, Additive Manufacturing (AM) emerged as a useful and cost-effective tool for timely fabrication of geometrically complex objects [1–3]. Additive Manufacturing, popularly known as 3D printing, was introduced in the 1986 by Charles Hull who filed the first stereolithography (SLA) patent. Comparing AM with conventional manufacturing processes, its main novelty consists in adding material instead of removing it. More in detail, Additive Manufacturing consists in the deposition of materials in a layer-by-layer manner to fabricate solid objects starting from three-dimensional (3D) model data [2]. Each layer is a cross-section, having a finite thickness, of the object derived from the model Computer Aided Design (CAD) data [4, 5]. A wide range of materials, e.g., polymers, metals, ceramics and bioinks, can be processed by means of AM realizing very complex geometry that could only be fabricated using AM. Moreover, complexity is very inexpensive in comparison to traditional manufacturing techniques. These technologies are currently used for several applications, including the engineering industry (e.g., aerospace and automotive industries) medicine, architecture, education, hobbies, toys, and entertainment.

Additive Manufacturing plays a crucial role in developing healthcare solutions, e.g., implants designing, surgical planning, and tissue engineering, due to its accuracy, repeatability, and reliability [2]. Additive manufacturing of organs, prosthetics, and pharmaceutical dosage, discovery and delivery devices are well-known application of AM in this context [6]. Hence, the growing use of AM in medical field is largely due to the biocompatibility of materials, cost effectiveness, accessibility, relatively short production time, collaboration, democratization, and easy customization [7–11]. Furthermore, AM enables the application of design approaches aiming to minimize weight, improving fatigue life, maximizing stiffness, and enhancing the longevity of medical implants. Another advantage related to the employing of AM technologies in the medical field is the possibility

to design tailor-made solutions, *patient-specific* implants or tools that perfectly fit the anatomy of the patient. The weak point is the slow speed making AM unsuitable for mass production [12–17]. To date, many AM technologies have been developed, however not all of these are equally employed for the manufacturing of medical devices. Metallic medical devices are usually realized through powder bed fusion processes: among these, selective laser melting, and electron beam melting are often used to fabricate medical devices starting from powdered metals. Biomaterials are also processed by powdered-based additive manufacturing, including selective laser sintering. Fusion deposition modelling is the extrusion-based process most widely used in this scenario. Biomaterials are mostly processed by means of Vat polymerization techniques, such as stereolithography.

The processes just mentioned above are classified according to the reference standards and then described in detail in Section 1.2. Then, an overview of most common applications of AM in the biomedical context is provided in Section 1.2.8. The biocompatible materials that are usually processed to realize medical devices are described in Section 1.4. Section 1.5 describes the approach to designing patient-specific medical devices and then, Section 1.6 presents a brief recapitulation and conclusions.

1.2. Classification of AM processes

Several techniques for AM have been developed since the 1980s. The ISO/ASTM 52900 [18] standard establishes general principles and a formal vocabulary for AM technologies providing a classification of process categories. The process categories are described below more specifically. Bioprinting is also introduced at the end of the paragraph even if it is not a specific additive manufacturing technique on its own, but a set of AM technologies mostly used for regenerative medicine and tissue engineering [19, 20].

1.2.1.Vat Photopolymerization

Vat Photopolymerization (VPP) is the first typology of AM process to be introduced and then commercialized by C.W. Hull in 1986. VPP involves the use of a bath of liquid photopolymer resin which is cured by means of thermal energy directly applied to the liquid material (**Figure 1.1**) [21].

A laser system is used to selectively cures, in a layer-by-layer manner, specific regions of resins according to the model geometry. In the following, the most used techniques using the main principles of VPP are described.



Figure 1.1. Vat Photopolymerization process schematic representation [21].

Stereolithography (SLA) is based on the selective photopolymerization of photosensitive resins through the irradiation of an ultraviolet (UV) light. SLA processes include two different irradiation methods: (i) mask irradiation; (ii) direct irradiation or photo-fabrication. The mask irradiation method consist in the solidification of each layer of the polymer by means the exposure to UV radiation. The UV radiation, generated by a lamp, is transmitted through a mask which is composed of transparent areas corresponding to the section of the model to be fabricated. In the direct irradiation method, a laser beam follows a precise pattern, causing polymerization of the resin and solidification of the material point-by-point and layer-by-layer until the entire structure is complete [33]. The SLA system for direct irradiation is composed of a container containing the photosensitive polymer, the movable construction table where the object is built, the laser system which irradiates the UV light and the dynamic optical system which focuses the laser beam. Hence, when a layer is complete, the platform descends into the container depositing a non-reticulated polymeric film which will be photopolymerized allowing the generation of the next layer.

Table 1.1 summarizes the above-mentioned process categories providing the typical commercial names for each one.

Table 1.1. Additive Manufacturing categories: classification according to ISO/ASTM 52900 and the related commercial names.

AM process categories	Typical commercial names		
Binder Jetting	Powder Bed and inkjet Head, Plaster-based 3D Printing		
	Laser Metal Deposition, Direct Metal Deposition, Direct Laser		
Direct Energy Deposition	Deposition, Laser Engineered Net Shaping, Electron-Beam		
	Freeform Fabrication, Weld-based Additive Manufacturing		
Material Extrusion	Fused Deposition Modelling, Fused Filament Fabrication		
Material Jetting	Multi-Jet Modelling		
	Electron Beam Melting, Electron Beam Additive Manufacturing,		
Powder Bed Fusion	Selective Laser Sintering, Selective Heat Sintering, Direct Metal		
	Laser Sintering, Selective Laser Melting, Laser Beam Melting		
Sheet Lamination	Laminated Object Manufacturing, Ultrasonic Consolidation		
Vat Dhotopolymorization	Stereolithography, Digital Light Processing, Solid Group Curing,		
	Projection Stereolithography		

Table 1.2 reports a summarized comparison among the main AM technologies, focusing on some aspects related to the process: usable material, printing resolution, pros and cons.

AM Technique	Material	Resolution	Pros	Cons
Binder Jetting	Sand Metal powder	50–400 μm	Low cost, fast, color printing, no support structure needed, large objects	Low strength, requires post-processing, powders pose a respiratory hazard
Directed Energy Deposition	Metal Nylon	250–500 μm	Fast, composite materials, can patch defects on existing objects	Expensive, slow, low resolution, requires post-process machining
Material Extrusion	Hydrogels Thermoplastics	100–200 μm	Color, low cost, accessible,	Slow, anisotropy, lower resolution, nozzles

 Table 1.2. Comparison among AM technologies (adapted from [22]).

(FDM ¹)	Ceramics		composite	impart high shear forces
	Bioinks		materials, open	on cells
			source	
			designs	
Material Jetting/Inkjet (MJ ² , DOD ³)	Photopolymer Bioinks	20–100 µm	Good resolution and cell viability	Slow, material waste
Powder Bed Fusion (SLS ⁴ , DMLS ⁵ /SLM ⁶ , EBM ⁷)	Thermoplastics Metal Powder Ceramics	100–200µm	Strong, fast, no solvents required	Most expensive, medium resolution, post-processing required
Sheet Lamination	Paper Ceramics Metal	~1 mm	Low cost, composite materials, no support structure needed	Slow, lots of material wasted, delamination
Stereolithography (SLA ⁸ , DLP ⁹)	Photopolymer Bio-resin	1.2–200 μm	High resolution, fast, very good cell viability, nozzle free	Raw material toxicity, limited material selection, possible harm to DNA by UV
Spheroid assembly	Bioink Organoids	100–200 μm	Biologically active models, scaffold free, freeform fabrication	Fragile raw material, requires subsequent spheroid fusion

¹Fused deposition modelling; ²Material jetting; ³Drop-on-demand; ⁴Selective laser sintering; ⁵Direct metal laser sintering; ⁶Selective laser melting; ⁷Electron beam melting; ⁸Stereolithography; ⁹Digital light processing.

1.2.2.Material Extrusion

Material Extrusion (MEX) is one of the most widespread AM techniques. Compared to Vat Photopolymerization, MEX allows extruding thermoplastics without the hazard related to the processing of some toxic resins [21]. MEX technologies use granules, filaments, or liquids as raw materials. MEX processes involve the material extrusion through a nozzle or orifice. The printer head moves and selectively deposits material in a pattern that produces a part cross-section, layer-by-layer until the solid object is fabricated. **Figure 1.2** represents schematically the MEX systems.



Figure 1.2. Schematic representation of Material Extrusion systems [1].

<u>Fused Deposition Modelling (FDM)</u> allows to fabricate 3D morphologically controlled structures. The technique consists in extruding a molten polymer filament through a nozzle. The moving nozzle deposits polymeric fibres onto a platform, building the physical model layer-by-layer.

The advantage of FDM is the possibility of processing polymeric material integrating a high quantity of particulate reinforcement phase [23]. However, the resolution of manufactured parts by means FDM techniques is its main limitation. The stratification thickness depends on the nozzle diameter. The smaller conventional nozzles have inner diameter of 0.254 mm. Reducing the volume of material which flows through the nozzle can improve the resolution of FDM techniques. Therefore, the manufacturing of submillimeter devices requires nozzles with diameters below 0.05 mm. Monzón et al. [24] present a paper introducing the possibility to realize micro-additive fused deposition (MAFD) by means the design of a nozzle with inner diameter 0.05 mm. They faced two main issues: (i) the reduced diameter affects the extrusion process which shows complications due to high shear stress, pressure drop and swelling; (ii) the cooling of thin filament is rapid and could obstruct the nozzle preventing the correct deposition.

<u>Liquid Deposition Modelling (LDM)</u> allows processing thermosets by using UV photopolymerization or hardening agents to induce curing. As shown by **Figure 1.3**, a viscous liquid is deposited by means a printer head filling the cross sections of the part layer-by-layer. UV light is used to initially cure the layer just deposited. Then, the thermal-curing process is completed into an oven to complete crosslinking.



Figure 1.3. Schematic representation of Liquid Deposition Modelling [21].

1.2.3. Powder Bed Fusion

Powder Bed Fusion (PBF) is one of the first AM processes to be commercialized. It is very versatile as it is suitable for polymers and metals, and also for ceramics and composites [1]. PBF is a powderbased printing technique as well as BJT. The powder bed is the base material for the constructs. The powder is molten by applying thermal energy in order to selectively fuse powder particles, achieving a cohesive structure. The process is repeated layer-by-layer until the entire object is finished. Four different fusion mechanisms can be identified: (i) solid-state sintering; (ii) chemically induced sintering; (iii) liquid-phase sintering; (iv) full melting [25–27]. Moreover, PBF techniques can be distinguished by the different used thermal source (i.e., laser or electron beam) [25]. Consequently, considering the above, the following three PBF sub-categories emerged: (i) Selective Laser Sintering (SLS), (ii) Selective Laser Melting (SLM) and Electron Beam Melting (EBM). All PBF processes have a certain number of characteristics in common [28, 29]: fusion between powder particles is induced through one or more thermal sources; the powder is selectively fused for each layer; the powder layers are added and smoothed by using special mechanisms.

<u>Selective Laser Sintering</u> (SLS) involves the use of an energy source, i.e., a laser, that is focused on a powder bed according to a precise path in order to melt the particles together as shown in **Figure 1.4**. Laser Sintering processes were originally used to fabricate plastic prototypes using a point-wise laser curing technique. This approach was subsequently extended to metal and ceramic powders; additional thermal sources are currently utilized, and variants for layer-wise fusion of powdered materials have been commercially introduced. As a result, a wide range of materials can be processed, including polymers, metals, ceramics, and composites, and used for direct manufacturing of end-use products, as the material properties are comparable to many engineering-grade polymers, metals, and ceramics made using conventional means [1, 30–32]. Regarding polymers, acrylic styrene and polyamide (nylon) are commonly used, also showing almost the same mechanical properties as the injected parts [30, 32, 33]. Polymer-based composites, e.g., fiberglass reinforced polyamide, may be also processed by using SLS, offering the possibility to use metals, e.g., copper, as reinforcement. Regarding the use of metals, a binder, e.g., a polymer binder, is used during the part building and then removed by heating. As reported in [32, 34], parts of alumina with high mechanical strength can be built using polyvinyl alcohol as binder.

SLS fuses thin layer of powder, typically in the range of 0.075-1 mm thick, which is spread across the build platform using a counter-rotating powder levelling roller. Nitrogen gas is used to fill an enclosed chamber where the part building process takes place, in order to minimize degradation and oxidation of the powder material. The temperature of the powder in the build platform is maintained at an elevated value, just below the melting point and glass transition temperature of the employed material. Moreover, the temperature around the part being formed is maintained elevated through infrared (IR) heaters placed above the build platform. IR heaters are used also to preheat the powder before to spread it over the platform aiming at maintaining an elevated and uniform temperature, minimizing the laser power requirements for fusion and preventing warping of the part during the build.

According to [35], the laser power, laser scan speed and laser scan spacing affect the microstructure, physical and mechanical properties of the parts manufactured by SLS. Such parameters are directly related to the amount of energy on the powder surface of the manufactured part [25].



Figure 1.4. Schematic representation of the SLS process [1].

<u>Selective Laser Melting (SLM)</u> process is similar to SLS since it is based on the same concept, even if they differ in technical details. Parts that are realized by means of SLM, are obtained through powder melting instead of powder sintering. The melting of powder material is obtained through high power-density laser. SLM can be used to process several metallic materials, e.g., copper, tungsten, aluminium, and also ceramic and composite materials [36].

<u>Electron Beam Melting (EBM)</u> also referred to as Electron Beam Additive Manufacturing (EBAM) provides several advantages compared to other PBF techniques: the high energy efficiency, the moderate cost, the high speed for scanning operation. However, among the disadvantages it is worth mentioning the low process stability, the part defects and the high variable quality of the finished object [37, 38]. Compared to other PBF technologies, the thermal energy which is used to melt the powder particles come from the electron beam that is powered by a high voltage (30-60 kV). The

process takes place in a high vacuum chamber aiming at avoiding the oxidation problems (it is usually employed for manufacturing of metal parts).

1.2.4.Binder Jetting

Binder Jetting (BJT) technique involves the selective deposition of a liquid binder onto a bed of powder material (**Figure 1.5**). The binding droplets are sprayed over a thin layer of powder material to bind the powder particles. During the process, the printer head moves linearly, according to a precise path, over the powder bed and sprays the binding liquid in the form of droplets by means of multiple nozzles. The powder material (e.g., metal, polymer, ceramic, composite) is stored in a tank and it is deposited onto the building platform layer-by-layer by means of a layering-roller. The sprayed binding droplets bind the particles on a layer, the building platforms lowers by the layer thickness and the fresh layer is laid on the previous one. This process continues until the part is completed. The unbound powder can be re-used for new print.



Figure 1.5. Schematic representation of Binder Jetting technology [21].

1.2.5.Directed Energy Deposition

Directed Energy Deposition (DED) techniques involves the simultaneous material deposition and melting. More in details, the power source, usually a laser beam, heats a narrow region and melts the substrate, and at the same time, further material is deposited onto the substrate and, consequently, melted [1, 25]. The raw material can be in wire or powder form. **Figure 1.6** schematically represents

a DED process that uses a laser as heat source and powder as raw material. DED is almost exclusively used to process metals for both research and commercial purposes. Due to DED unique characteristics, it is employed to repair and/or add features to existing parts. DED ability to create large, near-net-shaped freeform structures in a fast and cost-effective way compared to traditional casting and forgings has earned it the industrial interest [1].

Powder feed rate, beam power and traverse speed are the process parameters affecting the features of the manufactured object. The melt pool characteristics and the thermal history are responsible for warping, residual stresses, and surface roughness. Droplet kinematics play a crucial role, affecting the process quality.

The microstructure of parts realized through a DED process are similar to PBF processes, wherein each pass of the heat source (i.e., laser, electron beam) creates a track of rapidly solidified material.



Figure 1.6. Schematic representation of DED process [1].

Laser Engineered Net Shaping (LENS) is one of the first developed and commercialized DED processes. Laser Engineered Net Shaping machines are made of an enclosed inert gas chamber where the materials are processed. The inert gas chamber typically contains argon which is several orders of magnitude cleaner than the inert gas system used in PBF processes. DED machines have historically used CO_2 lasers, which are economical and high-powered heat source. Since the absorption of most materials is much less at CO_2 laser wavelengths than for Nd-YAG or fiber lasers,

new DED machines currently use fiber, diode, or Nd-YAG lasers. However, the machines which use CO₂ lasers, apply a larger amount of laser energy to compensate for their lower absorptivity, resulting in a larger heat affected zone and overall heat input [1]. The residual stresses by uneven heating and cooling processes may represent a drawback playing a significant role in high precision processes like the repair of turbine blades [32, 34, 39].

1.2.6.Material Jetting

Material Jetting (MJT) process, which is schematically shown in Figure 1.7, involves the use of a photopolymeric resin which cross-links by means of UV-radiation. The resin is selectively deposited in the form of droplets through a printing head, onto a building platform. The sprayed resin is immediately cured by means of the UV light sources which usually moves together the printing head on the same carriage. Once a layer is completed, the building platform is lowered by the height of the layer, allowing to create the next layer. The process repeats until the part is completed. MJT allows realizing multi-material fabrication, multi-colour printing, and the deposition of dissolvable supports by using multiple printing head on the same carriage [21]. The supports are usually required because the deposited drops, before the cross-linking, cannot maintain their form stability on their own. MJT is a fast process compared to other AM technologies and allows to obtain very accurate 3D objects. However, there are some technical problems related to MJT. Droplet speed and size represent the most important factors since they play a crucial role in the deposition features [25]. Furthermore, the satellite droplets breaking off from the main droplets are characterized by not well defined boundaries [25, 40], along with the droplet splashing on impact, and should be limited in order to improve the quality of the parts fabricated by means of MJT [41]. For this reason, even the process temperature and fluid dynamics have to be properly considered in the optimization of the MJT process.



Figure 1.7. Schematic representation of Material Jetting process [21].

1.2.7.Sheet Lamination

Sheet Lamination (SHL) technology is schematically represented in **Figure 1.8**. SHL is also referred to as Laminated Object Manufacturing (LOM). Layers of materials in form of sheets are stacked and bonded together by using a bonding agent in order to realize the 3D object. The raw material is presented in the form of a continuous sheet wrapped around a spool. The sheet is spread over the building platform and then, it is made to adhere by using a heated roller. The bonding between successive layers occurs through several methods: (i) thermal bonding; (ii) gluing bonding; (iii) clamping; (iv) ultrasonic consolidation [25].

The contour of the cross-section in the specific layer is cut by means of a laser cutter or even a knife. The unused material is collected on a special roll for excess material. The building platform lowers layer-by-layer allowing the realization of the 3D object [42].

The sheet thickness and the accuracy of the cutting mechanism are the factors that most affect the precision of the realized part. A sheet layer can be from 0.04 mm and larger, whereas the new layer rolling speed is usually in the range of 13-40 mm/s with heat exposure of 5 - 20 s subject to the material.



Figure 1.8. Schematic representation of Sheet Lamination process [21].

1.2.8.Bioprinting

Bioprinting is not part of the classification envisaged by the reference standard because it is not considered a specific additive manufacturing technique on its own. Multiple AM technologies used to 3D print living cells are included under the definition of bioprinting. Extrusion-based, inkjet-based, and laser-assisted bioprinting (**Figure 1.9**) allow depositing cells suspended in a bioink through nozzle-based or nozzle-free technique in order to fabricate 3D complex constructs in a top-down approach.

Extrusion-based bioprinting allows processing extremely viscous materials and cells of high density and depositing them to form 3D shapes. The extrusion of a continuous filament of bioink through a micro-nozzle is carried out by means of the applying of a continuous force due to a pneumatic pressure or piston or screw pressure.

Inkjet-based bioprinting uses hydrogel pre-polymer solution with suspended cells as bioink. The bioink is deposited in the form of droplets with high precision to coalesce into fibers onto the top of a substrate at a platform. The process continues in a layer-by-layer manner until the 3D structure is completed. The crosslinking process takes place between the deposition of one layer and the other. By controlling the drop size through a thermal or piezoelectric force it is possible realizing construct with a resolution of sub-100 μ m [19, 22, 43].

Laser-assisted bioprinting takes place by transferring cell-suspended droplets in bioinks in the form through a receiving substrate, focusing a laser on the so-called ribbon, i.e., a membrane which is coated with cell-bioink on the side facing the printing surface, whereas on the other side is coated with an energy-absorbing layer (usually titanium or gold). Laser-assisted bioprinting is a nozzle-free techniques that does not create mechanical stress towards the cells during printing. The quality of this process depends on many factors, including the characteristics of the laser [44], the thickness and viscosity of the bioink layer, the air gap between the receiving substrate and the ribbon [45].



Figure 1.9. Bioprinting techniques: (a) inkjet-based bioprinting; (b) laser-assisted bioprinting; (c) extrusion-based bioprinting [19].

1.3. Biomedical applications of AM technologies

AM techniques allows fabricating geometrically complex object that is extremally difficult or even impossible to produce using conventional manufacturing techniques (e.g., formative, or subtractive techniques) in a fast and cost-effective way. To date, porous implants to repair human skull defects are commonly fabricated through a CAD/CAM approach involving the combination of reverse engineering and additive manufacturing techniques [46, 47].

Bioprinting is a unique and rapidly growing application of AM in the medical field. It allows to seed cells in 3D space according to a defined model, enabling the production of implantable tissue (e.g., skin [48], cartilage [49], bone [50]) and in vitro models for disease modeling or drug screening.

Therefore, it is clear that the role of AM in healthcare [2] became crucial in several applications, including pharmaceutical [31], therapeutic delivery [52–54], implant design [55], surgical planning [56] and tissue engineering [57–59]. AM application in the medical field, commonly employed materials, and the main steps of CAD/CAM approach for fabrication of 3D biomedical models and devices are described in the following.

1.3.1.Tissue Engineering

Tissue Engineering (TE) aims to replace and repair damaged or non-functional tissues by using engineered implants that combine biocompatible materials, live cells and growth factors to aid the normal tissue healing.

AM technologies gained great interest in the context of TE, since their suitability in realizing complex morphology with a high degree of automation, good accuracy and reproducibility [60]. The possibility of easily process polymeric materials, which are well suited to being used in biomedical field due to their customizable physico-chemical features, played a key role in the spreading of AM technologies in this context. AM enabled the realization of micro and nano-structured biodegradable construct suitable for several applications in the context of TE and regenerative medicine. 3D printed implants mimicking the microscopic network of connective tissue [61], porous implant aiming to promote bone regeneration [62], complex bioprinted 3D organoids [63] are some of the most common application of AM in TE scenario.

1.3.2. Bioprinting Tissues and Organs

Bioprinting is a special typology of AM technology that directly deposits biological material as bioink (e.g., living cells) through a computer-guided pipette, in a layer-by-layer fashion to fabricate artificial living tissues [3]. Bioprinting is currently used to realize organs and tissues which are suitable for transplantation. More specifically, this technology is employed for generation and transplantation of heart tissue, cartilaginous structures, bone, tracheal splints, vascular graft, multilayered skin and so on [48, 64–66]. Moreover, it is possible to realize artificial tissue organoids mimicking real organs on a miniature scale in order to use them for medical research. Bioprinting is mainly distinguished into the following three distinct types: laser-based bioprinting, jetting-based bioprinting, and extrusion-based bioprinting. **Table 1.3** compares the different AM technologies for bioprinting.

	Laser-based	Jetting-based	Extrusion-based
	bioprinting	bioprinting	bioprinting
Biomaterial	Hydrogels and nano- hydroxyapatite	Alginate, fibrin and hydrogels	Alginate, collagen, fibrin and hyaluronic acid
Resolution	50 μm	50-300 μm	100 µm to 1mm
Cell viability	>85%	>85%	40-80%
Printing speed	200-1600 mm/s	1-10,000 droplet/s	10-50 μm/s
Material viscosity (mPa/s)	1-300	3-12 (low)	30-6 x 102 (high)
Manufacturing time	Long	Medium	Short
Applications	Skin	Skin, cartilage and vascular	Trachea and cardiac valve

Table 1.3. Comparison of three category of bioprinting on distinct parameters [67].

1.3.3.Surgical Tools

Combining the recent advancements in the image acquisition with AM technologies it is possible to create CAD models of patient anatomy. This enables the designing and manufacturing of customized, patient-specific surgical tools [68]. Therefore, even though most surgical instruments are designed to work with the majority of patients, the ability to manufacture custom instruments allows for a more controlled and simplified operative experience, decreasing the risk of complications.

AM processes are increasingly used to develop various dental surgical instruments, orthopedic tools, and surgical guides. Benefitting from such a technological approach, clinicians can develop guides that strictly follow the patient's anatomy, while accurately positioning surgical instruments as well [3]. These additively manufactured devices can be used to operate in complex areas, ensuring full safety to patients [69].

1.3.4. Anatomical Models for Surgical Preparation

AM technologies are used to realize patient specific implant organ models aiming to help surgeons in planning and training. The first step concerns the acquisition of bi-dimensional images from magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or computed tomography (CT) scans; then, converting them into 3D data, it is possible to fabricate models that precisely replicate the anatomical parts to be subject to surgery. This allows surgeons to practice before performing complicated surgeries. 3D printed anatomical models are widely employed in the neurological, maxillofacial, and orthopedic fields for planning treatments, assisting diagnosis, and fabricating customized prosthetic devices [5, 6].

1.3.5. Custom made implants and Prosthetics

AM technologies are also considered for the development of prosthetic limbs. The additive approach allows realizing customized prosthetic devices that perfectly fit the wearer in a short time, and with the same functionality as the devices produced by conventional techniques. AM solve many orthopedics problems and is usually employed to manufacture maxillofacial, cranial and mandible implants [3, 70].

1.3.6. Clinical applications in dentistry and orthopedics

AM technologies are widely used for dentistry application. Indeed, additive manufacturing is suitable both for maxillofacial and oral surgery, as well as for endodontics and orthodontics.

AM techniques provide high-quality restorations and comfort to dentists, since additively manufactured dental restorations are more robust in production compared to the restorations made by dental technicians through conventional techniques. Several AM techniques, e.g., FDM, SLS, LOM, are used in the context of dentistry, to fabricate dental pieces, bridges, crowns, etc. [71, 72]. **Table 1.4** reports the most common dental applications and the most used materials in this context.

3D printed models are also used in dentistry to plan and simulate oral surgery before starting the patient surgery [73]. Indeed, the adoption of a customized approach for the management of each patient is necessary due to the anatomical variability in dentistry. Moreover, in the last decades, the advancements in scanning and imaging technologies allowed to rebuild accurately in 3D

environments the patients' oral cavities. Therefore, combining the image acquisition techniques with AM technologies, it is possible to design, manufacture and employ custom oral prostheses and implants reducing waiting times and costs. For example, CAD models of patients oral cavities are commonly used to simulate the final teeth alignment, and to manufacture a corresponding mold for custom silicon prostheses [22]. A common approach in the maxillofacial surgery uses AM technologies to fabricate 3D custom biocompatible and osteoconductive implants to accurately repair, or substitute bone defects promoting the bone tissue regeneration. These implants are commonly called scaffolds and are described more in detail in Section 0.

The orthopedics is the first medical sector to use AM technologies to fabricate patient-specific models and implants for the management of injuries and the restoring of alignment, structural integrity and motion [3, 22, 74]. Similar to dentistry, also in the orthopedics field, CAD models of patient anatomy are generated through radiological imaging and then used to design and fabricate custom-fit implants by means of AM. Scaffolds aiming to integrate or even regenerate the own bone of the patient are used also in orthopedics. These additively manufactured orthopedic implants create tissue support and promote bone regeneration thanks their tunable features (e.g., implants porosity makes the implant penetrable to tissue and vessel ingrowth [75]).

Dental applications	Material
Cost effective models of simple anatomical parts	ABS ¹ , PLA ² , PC ³ , PEEK ⁴
Orthodontic devices, surgical guides, bridges	Ceramic filled resins
Copings and bridges, metal crowns	Alumide powder, polyurethane rubber
Maxillofacial implants, drilling and cutting guides	photopolymers
Cell-laden scaffolds	Photopolymer resins, alginate

Table 1.4. AM applications in dentistry and mostly used materials [73].

¹Acrylonitrile butadiene styrene; ²Polylactic acid; ³Polycarbonates; ⁴Polyether-ether-ketone.

1.4. Biocompatible materials for AM

In the context of biofabrication [76], referring to materials for AM, it is possible to distinguish between *bioinks*, i.e., cell-seeded material, and *biomaterial ink*, i.e., mostly used to print cell-free scaffold which can be directly implanted or subsequently seeded with cells [77].

Metals are also used to fabricate implants for a variety of applications, including orthopedic, dental and craniofacial.

1.4.1.Bioinks

Hydrogels are commonly used as bioinks as they have good biocompatibility, customizable properties and are very suitable for 3D cell cultures [78–82]. Hydrogels are suitable for extrusion-based bioprinting because of their non-Newtonian, shear thinning behavior. Despite this, they show some limitations when processed by AM. Low viscosities before crosslinking, for example, result in poor shape fidelity after extrusion and limited capacity to form large structures without collapsing [83, 84]. Alginate, agarose, collagen, cellulose, gelatin, gellan gum, fibrin and hyaluronic acid are biopolymer used for bioprinting. One of the most widely used hydrogels is alginate, a negatively charged polysaccharide used primarily for tissue engineering purposes. The crosslinking of alginate is obtained by adding divalent cations an thence it can be functionalized by adding arginine-glycineaspartate (RGD) in order to promote the cells adhesion to the ECM [85]. Moreover, it is commonly blended with other biopolymers or reinforced with ceramics [86] in order to change its printing and biological features.

Another natural biopolymer frequently used in cell culture is gelatin. It is degradable, biocompatible and is also inexpensive compared to other bioink. Gelatine is usually modified to face its intrinsically limitations, including too slow gelation speed to guarantee shape fidelity. For example, methacrylate (GelMA) is used to promote UV crosslinking [87] and then used for several purposes [88–91]. Collagen, gelatin and fibrin are natural components of ECM and therefore are commonly used to rebuild artificially ECM for cell culture scaffolds, even if the majority of chemical and biological signals from natural ECM are missing. Moreover, ECM is decellularized (dECM) to produce a functional bioink even if the decellularization reduces the mechanical characteristics and therefore blending with synthetic or natural materials is necessary [92, 93].

1.4.2.Biomaterial inks

Biomaterial inks are thermoplastic polymers, e.g., biodegradable such as polycaprolactone (PCL) or non-degradable such as polypropylene (PP), inorganic materials such as cements, ceramics and metals mostly in powder form. The main requirements for being classified as biomaterial inks are the ability to be processed by additive manufacturing technology and not contain cells. Cells may be subsequently seeded. Resins commonly processed through SLA for scaffold fabrication are also classifiable as biomaterial inks.

Synthetic hydrogels have non-Newtonian properties and are printable by extrusion-based AM processes like biopolymeric hydrogels, but on the other hand they are generally not suitable for direct cell seeding. A commonly used synthetic hydrogels is Pluronic which is used as support material for structures with protrusions and as sacrificial core to produce hollow structures [94–99]. Elastomers are interesting materials due to their mechanical properties mimicking the viscoelasticity of native tissues.

Thermoplastics are the most used material in the context of AM, with a huge range of applications in several fields. Thermoplastics are suitable to be processed by several AM techniques. PCL, PLA, polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) are used to additively manufacture medical devices for direct implantation in vivo or for supporting of cell-seeded hydrogels. They allow producing engineered devices with high resolution, good shape fidelity and controlled porosity.

Ceramics materials consist of a mixture of inorganic salts, including calcium and phosphate, mainly adopted for dentistry and orthopedic applications, or for bone tissue regeneration due to their osteoconductive characteristics. The main feature of ceramics is brittleness which makes handling and implantation difficult. Indeed, they are often mixed with a polymeric binder for extrusion or powder-based additive manufacturing. Tricalcium phosphate (TCP), hydroxyapatite (HAp), biphasic calcium phosphate (BCP), poly (methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) and bio glass are commonly processed ceramics. In [100], 3D printed scaffolds are manufactured by using functionalized PCL: the powdered ceramic and polymer are mixed, melted and rendered in filament form to be extruded. The natural ceramics used to functionalize PCL is derived from decellularized bone matrix and Bio-Oss, i.e., a bone mineral derive from bovine, outperforming synthetic ceramics osteoinductive capability.

Metal implants for medical purposes are usually manufactured through traditional methods such as casting, forging and machining. AM enables the production of metallic patient-specific implants from reconstructed 3D imaging data. SLM allows producing high quality devices, with intricate lattice structures from metallic powders, aiming at overcoming the problems of surrounding stress shielding which arise in hip implants.

1.5. The designing of patient-specific devices

In the medical context, the ability to personalize and rapidly vary the design of a product without a substantial cost increase is an important opportunity.

Figure 1.10 summarizes the approach to the design of patient-specific medical devices showing the main involved steps.

The first step consists in the acquisition of data regarding the geometry of certain human body parts. The acquisition of data concerning the external geometrical characteristics of the human body, rather than the features of internal organs, is needed when designing ergonomic products or prosthetic and orthotic devices [2]. For these purposes, image acquisition techniques such as 3D scanning are usually adopted. The three-dimensional shape of objects can also be obtained by adopting the photogrammetry technique consisting in the acquisition of a series of photos which are then processed through dedicated software [101].



Figure 1.10. The main steps involved in the fabrication of additively manufactured medical devices [3].

The acquisition and reconstruction of the shape of internal body organs are required in order to design patient-specific medical devices such us implants, surgical guides or instruments. For these reasons, medical imaging modalities, i.e., magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computed tomography (CT), are usually employed in this context. Both MRI and CT produce a stack of 2D images, usually in DICOM (Digital Imaging and COmmunications in Medicine) format, that include all parts of the body within the field of view. By using dedicated medical image processing software an following a number of image processing steps, it is possible to create a 3D computer model of a specific body part from the acquired 2D stack of images. Materialise Mimics, Simpleware and Amira are examples of commercial software, whereas ImageJ and DeVide are non-commercial software developed for these and similar purposes.

Image segmentation is the first step of the process aiming to separate the body part of interest from other tissues or organs. Then, the 3D model is obtained by connecting and interpolating the detected contours of the desired body part. Hence, the resulting 3D model is usually represented into STereoLithography (STL) format and exported to CAD (Computer-aided design) software to be modified, adjusted, and perfected.

An exception to the above-described process occurs when a patient has lost a large part of his tissue or organs in a traumatic event and therefore the native geometry is unavailable. The same problem occurs when a tumour has disfigured the original anatomical shape of the organ. In these cases, usually, the contralateral side is used to estimate the anatomy of the traumatized or disfigured organ. On the other hand, *statistical shape models* (SSM) are used when the trauma is too large and no information concerning the native anatomy is available [102, 103].

Once information related to internal or external body part are acquired, designers can customize the design through a parametric [104–106] or partially non-parametric approach. After the analysis and optimization, parts are prepared to be additively manufactured: part orientation, slicing scheme and process variable optimization are the main three steps to follow at this point. A post-processing step may be required before the component can be implanted.

1.6. Conclusions

Additive Manufacturing is a rapidly growing technology in the medical sector. AM technologies offer unprecedented levels of freedom in the designing of medical devices and biomaterials.

It plays a crucial role in the biomedical field and provides a great number of advantages, including cost savings, customization, optimization of product design, shorter supply chain, ability to develop devices with complex geometry, for a wide range of applications. Additively manufactured implants, surgical instruments and custom-made devices can have a major effect in terms of time required for surgery and patient recovery time. Moreover, AM represents a great opportunity to aid pharmaceutical and medical companies generating more specific drugs and changing the way surgeons and technicians plan patient-specific procedures.

Bioprinting tissues and organoids, surgical instruments, custom-made prosthetics, anatomical models for surgical preparation, scaffolds for tissue regeneration are the major core applications of AM in the medical field. To date, craniofacial implants, knee, hip and spinal implants, prosthetic dentistry and several medical instruments are manufactured by additively manufacturing the most suitable materials according to the application. AM techniques allowed to apply biologically inspired principles in the design of medical devices and biomaterials. Although AM offer many advantages compared to traditional manufacturing, it still presents some limitations. Some applications such as organ printing, for example, still further research efforts. Even from an economic viewpoint, the convenience of using AM is not taken for granted. Indeed, only when the clinical benefits for patients and clinicians is clear the use of AM techniques could be justified. This is partly due to the costs related to the manufacturing that are relatively low in relations to the total cost. Most of the cost for patient-specific AM medical devices is associated with the designing process and not with the manufacturing.

Other issues are related to image acquisition. High-resolution images need long scanning times resulting in increased costs and more ionizing radiations for patients.

Therefore, the main limitations to be addressed in the context of AM for medical purposes are the following:

- The choice of materials is limited: the materials employed for biomanufacturing must be always biocompatible and sometimes also biodegradable. Currently, there are a limited number of materials that could meet these requirements, particularly given the stringent biocompatibility requirements of internally implantable medical devices.
- Additively manufactured devices usually have low mechanical properties: the medical devices to be implanted require reasonable mechanical feature, e.g., compress and tensile strength.
- The dimensional accuracy is low: the shrinkage of the components during the cooling usually results in a low dimensional accuracy which prevents the component fitting.
- AM is not suitable for mass production: AM becomes expensive and not enough fast in the context of mass production.

Some approaches that address these limitations involve combining AM with traditional subtractive and formative process. The combination of AM with conventional manufacturing techniques aims to obtain better control of the tolerances and surface finish in a shorter production time. Additively manufactured negatives could be used as models for formative processes in a huge number of biomedical applications. The combination of technologies could allow leveraging the strength points
of AM, such as free-form manufacturing, and conventional techniques, such as the availability of a wide range of materials.

In conclusion, the employing of AM technologies in the medical context has opened up an enormous number of possibilities in the most disparate applications. However, many issues and challenges are still open and require to be addressed.

References

- Gibson, I., Rosen, D., Stucker, B., Khorasani, M.: Additive Manufacturing Technologies. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-56127-7.
- Zadpoor, A.A.: Design for Additive Bio-Manufacturing: From Patient-Specific Medical Devices to Rationally Designed Meta-Biomaterials. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 18, 1607 (2017). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18081607.
- Kumar, R., Kumar, M., Chohan, J.S.: The role of additive manufacturing for biomedical applications: A critical review. J. Manuf. Process. 64, 828–850 (2021).
- Kuo, C.-C., Chen, W.-H., Li, J.-F., Zhu, Y.-J.: Development of a flexible modeling base for additive manufacturing. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 94, 1533–1541 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00170-017-1028-0.
- Cunico, M.W.M., Cunico, M.M., Cavalheiro, P.M., de Carvalho, J.: Investigation of additive manufacturing surface smoothing process. Rapid Prototyp. J. 23, 201–208 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1108/RPJ-11-2015-0176.
- Schubert, C., Langeveld, M.C. van, Donoso, L.A.: Innovations in 3D printing: a 3D overview from optics to organs. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 98, 159–161 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1136/bjophthalmol-2013-304446.
- Banks, J.: Adding Value in Additive Manufacturing: Researchers in the United Kingdom and Europe Look to 3D Printing for Customization. IEEE Pulse. 4, 22–26 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1109/MPUL.2013.2279617.
- Mertz, L.: Dream It, Design It, Print It in 3-D: What Can 3-D Printing Do for You? IEEE Pulse.
 4, 15–21 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1109/MPUL.2013.2279616.
- Ibrahim, A.M.S., Jose, R.R., Rabie, A.N., Gerstle, T.L., Lee, B.T., Lin, S.J.: Three-dimensional Printing in Developing Countries. Plast. Reconstr. Surg. – Glob. Open. 3, e443 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1097/GOX.0000000000298.

- Rankin, T.M., Giovinco, N.A., Cucher, D.J., Watts, G., Hurwitz, B., Armstrong, D.G.: Threedimensional printing surgical instruments: are we there yet? J. Surg. Res. 189, 193–197 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2014.02.020.
- 11. Cui, X., Boland, T., D.D'Lima, D., Lotz, M.K.: Thermal Inkjet Printing in Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine. Recent Pat. Drug Deliv. Formul. 6, 149–155.
- Lee, A.Y., An, J., Chua, C.K.: Two-Way 4D Printing: A Review on the Reversibility of 3D-Printed Shape Memory Materials. Engineering. 3, 663–674 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENG.2017.05.014.
- Pérez, B., Nykvist, H., Brøgger, A.F., Larsen, M.B., Falkeborg, M.F.: Impact of macronutrients printability and 3D-printer parameters on 3D-food printing: A review. Food Chem. 287, 249–257 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.02.090.
- Chen, Z., Li, Z., Li, J., Liu, C., Lao, C., Fu, Y., Liu, C., Li, Y., Wang, P., He, Y.: 3D printing of ceramics: A review. J. Eur. Ceram. Soc. 39, 661–687 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeurceramsoc.2018.11.013.
- Blok, L.G., Longana, M.L., Yu, H., Woods, B.K.S.: An investigation into 3D printing of fibre reinforced thermoplastic composites. Addit. Manuf. 22, 176–186 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addma.2018.04.039.
- Zarek, M., Mansour, N., Shapira, S., Cohn, D.: 4D Printing of Shape Memory-Based Personalized Endoluminal Medical Devices. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 38, 1600628 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1002/marc.201600628.
- Pop, M.A., Croitoru, C., Bedő, T., Geamăn, V., Radomir, I., Cos, M., nit, ă, Zaharia, S.M., Chicos, L.A., Milos, I., an: Structural changes during 3D printing of bioderived and synthetic thermoplastic materials. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 136, 47382 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1002/app.47382.
- ISO/ASTM 52900:2021. Additive manufacturing General principles Fundamentals and vocabulary - Second edition. Int. Organ. Stand. Geneva Switz.
- 19. Xie, Z., Gao, M., Lobo, A.O., Webster, T.J.: 3D bioprinting in tissue engineering for medical applications: the classic and the hybrid. Polymers. 12, 1717 (2020).
- 20. Tan, B., Gan, S., Wang, X., Liu, W., Li, X.: Applications of 3D bioprinting in tissue engineering: advantages, deficiencies, improvements, and future perspectives. J. Mater. Chem. B. (2021).
- Tamez, M.B.A., Taha, I.: A review of additive manufacturing technologies and markets for thermosetting resins and their potential for carbon fiber integration. Addit. Manuf. 37, 101748 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addma.2020.101748.

- Ahangar, P., Cooke, M.E., Weber, M.H., Rosenzweig, D.H.: Current biomedical applications of 3D printing and additive manufacturing. Appl. Sci. 9, 1713 (2019).
- De Santis, R., D'Amora, U., Russo, T., Ronca, A., Gloria, A., Ambrosio, L.: 3D fibre deposition and stereolithography techniques for the design of multifunctional nanocomposite magnetic scaffolds. J. Mater. Sci. Mater. Med. 26, 250–250 (2015).
- Monzón, M., Gibson, I., Benítez, A., Lorenzo, L., Hernández, P., Marrero, M.: Process and material behavior modeling for a new design of micro-additive fused deposition. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 67, (2013).
- 25. Stavropoulos, P., Foteinopoulos, P.: Modelling of additive manufacturing processes: a review and classification. Manuf. Rev. 5, 2 (2018).
- Kruth, J.-P., Levy, G., Klöcke, F., Childs, T.: Consolidation phenomena in laser and powder-bed based layered manufacturing. CIRP Ann.-Manuf. Technol. 56, 730–759 (2007).
- 27. Kruth, J.-P., Mercelis, P., Van Vaerenbergh, J., Froyen, L., Rombouts, M.: Binding mechanisms in selective laser sintering and selective laser melting. Rapid Prototyp. J. (2005).
- Dilip, J.J.S., Anam, M.A., Pal, D., Stucker, B.: A short study on the fabrication of single track deposits in SLM and characterization. In: 2016 International Solid Freeform Fabrication Symposium. University of Texas at Austin (2016).
- 29. Gibson, I., Khorasani, A.M.: Metallic Additive Manufacturing: Design, Process, and Post-Processing. Metals. 9, (2019).
- Tang, H.-H., Chiu, M.-L., Yen, H.-C.: Slurry-based selective laser sintering of polymer-coated ceramic powders to fabricate high strength alumina parts. J. Eur. Ceram. Soc. 8, 1383–1388 (2011).
- Halloran, J.W., Tomeckova, V., Gentry, S., Das, S., Cilino, P., Yuan, D., Guo, R., Rudraraju, A., Shao, P., Wu, T.: Photopolymerization of powder suspensions for shaping ceramics. J. Eur. Ceram. Soc. 14, 2613–2619 (2011).
- 32. Wong, K.V., Hernandez, A.: A Review of Additive Manufacturing. ISRN Mech. Eng. (2012).
- 33. Krznar, M., Dolinsek, S.: Selective laser sintering of composite materials technologies. na (2010).
- 34. Cooper, K.G.: Rapid Prototyping Technology: Selection and Application. Assem. Autom. (2001).
- 35. Khalil, Y., Kowalski, A., Hopkinson, N.: Influence of laser power on tensile properties and material characteristics of laser-sintered UHMWPE. Manuf. Rev. 3, 15 (2016).
- Yap, C.Y., Chua, C.K., Dong, Z.L., Liu, Z.H., Zhang, D.Q., Loh, L.E., Sing, S.L.: Review of selective laser melting: Materials and applications. Appl. Phys. Rev. 2, 041101 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4935926.

- 37. Gong, X., Anderson, T., Chou, K.: Review on powder-based electron beam additive manufacturing technology. In: International Symposium on Flexible Automation. pp. 507–515. American Society of Mechanical Engineers (2012).
- Murr, L.E., Gaytan, S.M., Ramirez, D.A., Martinez, E., Hernandez, J., Amato, K.N., Shindo, P.W., Medina, F.R., Wicker, R.B.: Metal fabrication by additive manufacturing using laser and electron beam melting technologies. J. Mater. Sci. Technol. 28, 1–14 (2012).
- Xiong, Y.: Investigation of the laser engineered net shaping process for nanostructured cermets. University of California, Davis (2009).
- 40. Bussmann, M., Chandra, S., Mostaghimi, J.: Modeling the splash of a droplet impacting a solid surface. Phys. Fluids. 12, 3121–3132 (2000).
- 41. Zhou, W., Loney, D., Degertekin, F.L., Rosen, D.W., Fedorov, A.G.: What controls dynamics of droplet shape evolution upon impingement on a solid surface? AIChE J. 59, 3071–3082 (2013).
- 42. Chang, B., Parandoush, P., Li, X., Ruan, S., Shen, C., Behnagh, R.A., Liu, Y., Lin, D.: Ultrafast printing of continuous fiber-reinforced thermoplastic composites with ultrahigh mechanical performance by ultrasonic-assisted laminated object manufacturing. Polym. Compos. 41, 4706– 4715 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1002/pc.25744.
- Mandrycky, C., Wang, Z., Kim, K., Kim, D.-H.: 3D bioprinting for engineering complex tissues. Biotechnol. Adv. 34, 422–434 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2015.12.011.
- 44. Koch, L., Brandt, O., Deiwick, A., Chichkov, B.: Laser-assisted bioprinting at different wavelengths and pulse durations with a metal dynamic release layer: A parametric study. Int. J. Bioprinting. 3, (2017). https://doi.org/10.18063/IJB.2017.01.001.
- Guillemot, F., Souquet, A., Catros, S., Guillotin, B.: Laser-assisted cell printing: principle, physical parameters versus cell fate and perspectives in tissue engineering. Nanomed. 5, 507–515 (2010). https://doi.org/10.2217/nnm.10.14.
- 46. Parthasarathy, J., Starly, B., Raman, S.: A design for the additive manufacture of functionally graded porous structures with tailored mechanical properties for biomedical applications. J. Manuf. Process. 13, 160–170 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmapro.2011.01.004.
- De Santis, R., Russo, T., Rau, J.V., Papallo, I., Martorelli, M., Gloria, A.: Design of 3D Additively Manufactured Hybrid Structures for Cranioplasty. Materials. 14, 181 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3390/ma14010181.
- Cubo, N., Garcia, M., Cañizo, J.F. del, Velasco, D., Jorcano, J.L.: 3D bioprinting of functional human skin: production and in vivo analysis. Biofabrication. 9, 015006 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1088/1758-5090/9/1/015006.

- 49. Gao, G., Hubbell, K., Schilling, A.F., Dai, G., Cui, X.: Bioprinting cartilage tissue from mesenchymal stem cells and PEG hydrogel. In: 3D Cell Culture. pp. 391–398. Springer (2017).
- Zhou, X., Zhu, W., Nowicki, M., Miao, S., Cui, H., Holmes, B., Glazer, R.I., Zhang, L.G.: 3D bioprinting a cell-laden bone matrix for breast cancer metastasis study. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 8, 30017–30026 (2016).
- Gioumouxouzis, C.I., Karavasili, C., Fatouros, D.G.: Recent advances in pharmaceutical dosage forms and devices using additive manufacturing technologies. Drug Discov. Today. 24, 636–643 (2019).
- Norman, J., Madurawe, R.D., Moore, C.M.V., Khan, M.A., Khairuzzaman, A.: A new chapter in pharmaceutical manufacturing: 3D-printed drug products. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 108, 39–50 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2016.03.001.
- 53. Ahangar, P., Akoury, E., Ramirez Garcia Luna, A.S., Nour, A., Weber, M.H., Rosenzweig, D.H.: Nanoporous 3D-Printed Scaffolds for Local Doxorubicin Delivery in Bone Metastases Secondary to Prostate Cancer. Materials. 11, 1485 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3390/ma11091485.
- 54. Akoury, E., Weber, M.H., Rosenzweig, D.H.: 3d-printed nanoporous scaffolds impregnated with zoledronate for the treatment of spinal bone metastases. MRS Adv. 4, 1245–1251 (2019).
- Arabnejad, S., Johnston, B., Tanzer, M., Pasini, D.: Fully porous 3D printed titanium femoral stem to reduce stress-shielding following total hip arthroplasty. J. Orthop. Res. 35, 1774–1783 (2017).
- 56. Coelho, G., Chaves, T.M.F., Goes, A.F., Del Massa, E.C., Moraes, O., Yoshida, M.: Multimaterial 3D printing preoperative planning for frontoethmoidal meningoencephalocele surgery. Childs Nerv. Syst. Chns Off. J. Int. Soc. Pediatr. Neurosurg. 34, 749–756 (2017).
- 57. Yang, C., Wang, X., Ma, B., Zhu, H., Huan, Z., Ma, N., Wu, C., Chang, J.: 3D-printed bioactive Ca3SiO5 bone cement scaffolds with nano surface structure for bone regeneration. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 9, 5757–5767 (2017).
- Rosenzweig, D.H., Carelli, E., Steffen, T., Jarzem, P., Haglund, L.: 3D-printed ABS and PLA scaffolds for cartilage and nucleus pulposus tissue regeneration. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 16, 15118–15135 (2015).
- Fairag, R., Rosenzweig, D.H., Ramirez-Garcialuna, J.L., Weber, M.H., Haglund, L.: Threedimensional printed polylactic acid scaffolds promote bone-like matrix deposition in vitro. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 11, 15306–15315 (2019).
- Mota, C., Puppi, D., Chiellini, F., Chiellini, E.: Additive manufacturing techniques for the production of tissue engineering constructs. J. Tissue Eng. Regen. Med. 9, 174–190 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1002/term.1635.

- Chocholata, P., Kulda, V., Babuska, V.: Fabrication of scaffolds for bone-tissue regeneration. Materials. 12, 568 (2019).
- Ma, Y., Hu, N., Liu, J., Zhai, X., Wu, M., Hu, C., Li, L., Lai, Y., Pan, H., Lu, W.W.: Threedimensional printing of biodegradable piperazine-based polyurethane-urea scaffolds with enhanced osteogenesis for bone regeneration. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 11, 9415–9424 (2019).
- Chao, H., Chen, Y., Shao, L., Xie, M., Nie, J., Qiu, J., Zhao, P., Ramezani, H., Fu, J., Ouyang, H.: Airflow-assisted 3D bioprinting of human heterogeneous microspheroidal organoids with microfluidic nozzle. Small. 14, 1802630 (2018).
- Ventola, C.L.: Medical Applications for 3D Printing: Current and Projected Uses. P T Peer-Rev. J. Formul. Manag. 39, 704–711 (2014).
- Michael, S., Sorg, H., Peck, C.-T., Koch, L., Deiwick, A., Chichkov, B., Vogt, P.M., Reimers, K.: Tissue Engineered Skin Substitutes Created by Laser-Assisted Bioprinting Form Skin-Like Structures in the Dorsal Skin Fold Chamber in Mice. PLOS ONE. 8, e57741 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057741.
- 66. Hierarchical Fabrication of Engineered Vascularized Bone Biphasic Constructs via Dual 3D Bioprinting: Integrating Regional Bioactive Factors into Architectural Design Cui 2016 Advanced Healthcare Materials Wiley Online Library, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/adhm.201600505, last accessed 2021/12/24.
- 67. Kumar, L.J., Pandey, P.M., Wimpenny, D.I.: 3D printing and additive manufacturing technologies. Springer (2019).
- Mayilvaganan, S., Bothra, S.: 3D printed surgical instruments: the design and fabrication process. World J. Surg. 41, 2414–2414 (2017).
- Gargiulo, P., Árnadóttir, Í., Gíslason, M., Edmunds, K., Ólafsson, I.: New Directions in 3D Medical Modeling: 3D-Printing Anatomy and Functions in Neurosurgical Planning. J. Healthc. Eng. 2017, e1439643 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/1439643.
- Akilbekova, D., Mektepbayeva, D.: Patient specific in situ 3D printing. In: 3D Printing in Medicine. pp. 91–113. Elsevier (2017).
- 71. Oberoi, G.: 3D printing facets of dentistry. Front Bioeng Biotechnol. 6, 172 (2017).
- 72. Hao, W., Liu, Y., Zhou, H., Chen, H., Fang, D.: Preparation and characterization of 3D printed continuous carbon fiber reinforced thermosetting composites. Polym. Test. 65, 29–34 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymertesting.2017.11.004.

- Javaid, M., Haleem, A.: Current status and applications of additive manufacturing in dentistry: A literature-based review. J. Oral Biol. Craniofacial Res. 9, 179–185 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jobcr.2019.04.004.
- Haglin, J.M., Eltorai, A.E., Gil, J.A., Marcaccio, S.E., Botero-Hincapie, J., Daniels, A.H.: Patient-Specific Orthopaedic Implants. Orthop. Surg. 8, 417–424 (2016).
- 75. Chang, B., Song, W., Han, T., Yan, J., Li, F., Zhao, L., Kou, H., Zhang, Y.: Influence of pore size of porous titanium fabricated by vacuum diffusion bonding of titanium meshes on cell penetration and bone ingrowth. Acta Biomater. 33, 311–321 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2016.01.022.
- 76. Groll, J., Boland, T., Blunk, T., Burdick, J.A., Cho, D.-W., Dalton, P.D., Derby, B., Forgacs, G., Li, Q., Mironov, V.A.: Biofabrication: reappraising the definition of an evolving field. Biofabrication. 8, 013001 (2016).
- 77. Groll, J., Burdick, J.A., Cho, D.-W., Derby, B., Gelinsky, M., Heilshorn, S.C., Juengst, T., Malda, J., Mironov, V.A., Nakayama, K.: A definition of bioinks and their distinction from biomaterial inks. Biofabrication. 11, 013001 (2018).
- 78. Chaudhuri, O., Gu, L., Klumpers, D., Darnell, M., Bencherif, S.A., Weaver, J.C., Huebsch, N., Lee, H.P., Lippens, E., Duda, G.N.: Hydrogels with tunable stress relaxation regulate stem cell fate and activity. Nat. Mater. 15, 326–326 (2016).
- Hunt, N.C., Grover, L.M.: Cell encapsulation using biopolymer gels for regenerative medicine. Biotechnol. Lett. 32, 733–742 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10529-010-0221-0.
- 80. Drury, J.L., Mooney, D.J.: Hydrogels for Tissue Engineering: Scaffold Design Variables and Applications. Biomaterials. 24, 4337–4351 (2003).
- Lee, J.-H., Kim, H.-W.: Emerging properties of hydrogels in tissue engineering. J. Tissue Eng. 9, 2041731418768285 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1177/2041731418768285.
- Green, J.J., Elisseeff, J.H.: Mimicking biological functionality with polymers for biomedical applications. Nature. 540, 386–394 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21005.
- Ribeiro, A., Blokzijl, M.M., Levato, R., Visser, C.W., Castilho, M., Hennink, W.E., Vermonden, T., Malda, J.: Assessing bioink shape fidelity to aid material development in 3D bioprinting. Biofabrication. 10, 014102 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1088/1758-5090/aa90e2.
- Jungst, T., Smolan, W., Schacht, K., Scheibel, T., Groll, J.: Strategies and Molecular Design Criteria for 3D Printable Hydrogels. Chem. Rev. 116, 1496–1539 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.5b00303.
- Rowley, J.A., Mooney, D.J.: Alginate type and RGD density control myoblast phenotype. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 60, 217–223 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.1287.

- X., Cooper, 86. You. F., Chen, D.M.L., Chang, T., Eames, **B.F.**: Homogeneous hydroxyapatite/alginate composite hydrogel promotes calcified cartilage matrix deposition with bioprinting. 015015 potential for three-dimensional Biofabrication. 11. (2018). https://doi.org/10.1088/1758-5090/aaf44a.
- Klotz, B.J., Gawlitta, D., Rosenberg, A.J.W.P., Malda, J., Melchels, F.P.W.: Gelatin-Methacryloyl Hydrogels: Towards Biofabrication-Based Tissue Repair. Trends Biotechnol. 34, 394–407 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2016.01.002.
- Lim, K.S., Levato, R., Costa, P.F., Castilho, M.D., Alcala-Orozco, C.R., Van Dorenmalen, K.M., Melchels, F.P., Gawlitta, D., Hooper, G.J., Malda, J.: Bio-resin for high resolution lithographybased biofabrication of complex cell-laden constructs. Biofabrication. 10, 034101 (2018).
- Pepelanova, I., Kruppa, K., Scheper, T., Lavrentieva, A.: Gelatin-Methacryloyl (GelMA) Hydrogels with Defined Degree of Functionalization as a Versatile Toolkit for 3D Cell Culture and Extrusion Bioprinting. Bioengineering. 5, 55 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3390/bioengineering5030055.
- 90. Levett, P.A., Melchels, F.P.W., Schrobback, K., Hutmacher, D.W., Malda, J., Klein, T.J.: A biomimetic extracellular matrix for cartilage tissue engineering centered on photocurable gelatin, hyaluronic acid and chondroitin sulfate. Acta Biomater. 10, 214–223 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2013.10.005.
- 91. Byambaa, B., Annabi, N., Yue, K., Trujillo-de Santiago, G., Alvarez, M.M., Jia, W., Kazemzadeh-Narbat, M., Shin, S.R., Tamayol, A., Khademhosseini, A.: Bioprinted Osteogenic and Vasculogenic Patterns for Engineering 3D Bone Tissue. Adv. Healthc. Mater. 6, 1700015 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201700015.
- 92. Choudhury, D., Tun, H.W., Wang, T., Naing, M.W.: Organ-Derived Decellularized Extracellular Matrix: A Game Changer for Bioink Manufacturing? Trends Biotechnol. 36, 787–805 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2018.03.003.
- Athirasala, A., Tahayeri, A., Thrivikraman, G., França, C.M., Monteiro, N., Tran, V., Ferracane, J., Bertassoni, L.E.: A dentin-derived hydrogel bioink for 3D bioprinting of cell laden scaffolds for regenerative dentistry. Biofabrication. 10, 024101 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1088/1758-5090/aa9b4e.
- Hinton, T.J., Hudson, A., Pusch, K., Lee, A., Feinberg, A.W.: 3D Printing PDMS Elastomer in a Hydrophilic Support Bath via Freeform Reversible Embedding. ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng. 2, 1781–1786 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.6b00170.

- 95. O'Bryan, C.S., Bhattacharjee, T., Hart, S., Kabb, C.P., Schulze, K.D., Chilakala, I., Sumerlin, B.S., Sawyer, W.G., Angelini, T.E.: Self-assembled micro-organogels for 3D printing silicone structures. Sci. Adv. (2017). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1602800.
- Wu, W., DeConinck, A., Lewis, J.A.: Omnidirectional Printing of 3D Microvascular Networks. Adv. Mater. 23, H178–H183 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201004625.
- Kolesky, D.B., Homan, K.A., Skylar-Scott, M.A., Lewis, J.A.: Three-dimensional bioprinting of thick vascularized tissues. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113, 3179–3184 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1521342113.
- 98. de Ruijter, M., Ribeiro, A., Dokter, I., Castilho, M., Malda, J.: Simultaneous Micropatterning of Fibrous Meshes and Bioinks for the Fabrication of Living Tissue Constructs. Adv. Healthc. Mater. 8, 1800418 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201800418.
- Kesti, M., Eberhardt, C., Pagliccia, G., Kenkel, D., Grande, D., Boss, A., Zenobi-Wong, M.: Bioprinting Complex Cartilaginous Structures with Clinically Compliant Biomaterials. Adv. Funct. Mater. 25, 7406–7417 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201503423.
- 100.Nyberg, E., Rindone, A., Dorafshar, A., Grayson, W.L.: Comparison of 3D-Printed Poly-ε-Caprolactone Scaffolds Functionalized with Tricalcium Phosphate, Hydroxyapatite, Bio-Oss, or Decellularized Bone Matrix. Tissue Eng. Part A. 23, 503–514 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2016.0418.
- 101.James, M.R., Robson, S.: Straightforward reconstruction of 3D surfaces and topography with a camera: Accuracy and geoscience application. J. Geophys. Res. Earth Surf. 117, (2012). https://doi.org/10.1029/2011JF002289.
- 102.Heimann, T., Meinzer, H.-P.: Statistical shape models for 3D medical image segmentation: A review. Med. Image Anal. 13, 543–563 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.media.2009.05.004.
- 103.Sarkalkan, N., Weinans, H., Zadpoor, A.A.: Statistical shape and appearance models of bones. Bone. 60, 129–140 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2013.12.006.
- 104.Colombo, G., Filippi, S., Rizzi, C., Rotini, F.: A new design paradigm for the development of custom-fit soft sockets for lower limb prostheses. Comput. Ind. 61, 513–523 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2010.03.008.
- 105.Moreo, M.: Parametric design of a 3D printable hand prosthesis for children in developing countries. (2016).
- 106.Bos, E.J., Scholten, T., Song, Y., Verlinden, J.C., Wolff, J., Forouzanfar, T., Helder, M.N., van Zuijlen, P.: Developing a parametric ear model for auricular reconstruction: A new step towards patient-specific implants. J. Cranio-Maxillofac. Surg. 43, 390–395 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcms.2014.12.016.

Chapter 2. The designing and manufacturing of scaffolds for hard tissue regeneration

2.1. Introduction

TE uses *scaffolds* as temporary three-dimensional frameworks to provide structural support for cell growth, proliferation and adhesion during the regenerative process [1]. Scaffolds provide sites for the anchorage of stem cells, that in the right microenvironment, can reorganize and form the extracellular matrix (ECM), providing structural support for the newly formed tissue. An ideal scaffold should be able to preserve cells and growth factors, offering adequate mechanical support on a side and allowing tissue vascularization and diffusion of cell nutrients and oxygen on the other. Some basic requirements that a scaffold should possess, can be identified: (i) the interconnected porous structure is crucial to allow the mass transfer of metabolites and to provide the required space for remodelling of the new tissue; (ii) the biodegradability should have a controllable kinetics so that the scaffold acts as a support until the neotissue (i.e, cells plus organized ECM without vascularization) is formed [2]; (iii) the biocompatibility of the material is fundamental since it has to enhance the initial cell attachment as well as avoid the host immune response; (iv) the mechanical properties should be similar to those of the tissue to be repaired, (v) the geometry of the scaffold should allow to substitute the anatomic defect or damage.

However, each tissue requires a specific scaffold design with defined characteristics. The design of scaffolds for bone tissue repairing, for example, starts with the analysis of bone biology.

2.1.1.Scaffolds for bone tissue engineering: basic concepts

Bone tissue is a complex and hierarchical structure which consists of an inner cancellous bone and an outer cortical bone. Its mechanical properties are different depending on its location and function. Bone is a non-uniform porous structure composed of several trace elements (e.g., carbonate, manganese, potassium) [3–5]. This heterogeneous tissues can be considered as a composite consisting of inorganic nanoparticles of hydroxyapatite (HA), collagen – which constitutes over 90% of the organic phase - and water [6]. Non-collagenous proteins join together constituting the nanostructured extracellular matrix (ECM) which is responsible for several cell (i.e., osteoblast, bone lining cells, osteocytes, and osteoclast) adhesion, proliferation and differentiation [7–9].

Bone tissue shows an innate capacity for regeneration after injuries [10, 11]. Despite this, larger and more complicated defects can impede complete healing. Hence, specific treatments are needed before the tissue can regenerate repairing the defeat. In this scenario, polymeric 3D scaffolds are largely used to promote bone regeneration overcoming the drawbacks related to the conventional bone graft [12]. These devices act as mechanical supports, providing the structural stability which is required for bone healing process.

Porous scaffolds are designed to mimic the structure of the bone replicating similar Young's modulus, compression strength and biocompatibility. Bone ingrowth, indeed, strongly depends on size and shape of pores and on the randomness of the distribution of pores. Pore size determines the available space for new tissue to proliferate and whereas the pore shape can affect the permeability rate and consequently the bone ingrowth [13, 14]. The porosity also affects the mechanical properties and the scaffold capability to respond to stresses. The ideal situation involves a scaffold that has mechanical properties very close to those of real tissue in order to reduce the "stress shielding" that weakens the bone around the implantation region. Young's modulus and compression strength for cortical bone are in the ranges of 7-20 GPa and 100-250 MPa respectively [15–17], whereas for trabecular bone, the values are respectively in the ranges of 2-5 GPa and 11-24 GPa [18–21]. Scientific literature reports that a negative correlation occurs between elastic modulus and compression strength [22]. However, by controlling the porosity of the scaffold, it is possible to manage the relationships between these two parameters [23]. Therefore, scaffold features have to be modulated to address several needs as per the application scenario.

Manufacturing technologies play a crucial role in the definition of scaffold features [24]. Conventional techniques such as solvent casting combined with particulate leaching, freeze drying, gas foaming, melt moulding, fibre bonding, phase separation techniques, electrospinning are largely used. Although these methods allow manufacturing small pore and are suitable for large-scale production, they do not allow controlling macro shape, micropore, internal architecture and curved channels.

AM enables the control of pore shape, the pore size, the porosity rate, and the whole geometry by computer design. The porosity can be controlled punctually; complex geometries with gradient pore distribution (similar to bone tissue) can be manufactured in an efficient and economic manner [25]; the mechanical and chemical properties are customizable choosing among a wide range of biocompatible materials (solid-, liquid-, powder-based material) which can be easily processed by means of AM technologies

2.1.2.Additively manufactured scaffolds: composition and most used AM techniques

The most of 3D scaffolds that are used for bone tissue regeneration are polymers, bioactive ceramics, and composites. These can be injectable or rigid depending on their composition or intended use [26]. Metallic scaffolds are also used. However, these may cause bone resorption and fracture due to the great mismatch among the mechanical characteristics of the implant and the bone.

Natural polymers, e.g., fibrin, chitosan, collagen, hyaluronic acid, are biocompatible and osteoconductive but have a degradation rate that is difficult to control. Collagen 1 is widely used in bone tissue engineering. However, collagen has low mechanical properties and thus it is usually reinforced with hydroxyapatite (HA) particles to obtain higher robust material [27].

Synthetic polymers exhibit a controllable degradation rate, mechanical integrity, and customizable features. Compared to natural polymers, synthetic ones have worst bioactive properties. Poly lacticco-glycolic acid (PLGA) and polycaprolactone (PCL) triggered interest in clinical practices due to the low toxicity of degradation product. Poly(ε-caprolactone) is an aliphatic polyester and represents one of the most used synthetic polymers, due to its biodegradation rate, processability, high chemical and thermal stability [28–31]. Polypropylene fumarate (PPF), polyanhydride, polylactic acid (PLA), poly(glycolic acid) (PGA) and polyether ether ketone (PEEK) are common synthetic polymers. Hydrogels are an important class of polymers for bone tissue engineering. They consist of hydrophilic polymer networks that allow cells to adhere, grow and differentiate. Both synthetic and natural hydrogels can mimic bone ECM topography. However, the application of this kind of material, in the context of hard tissue regeneration, is problematic due to the low stiffness and low capacity in bearing relevant loads.

Bioactive ceramics (e.g., calcium silicate, coralline, hydroxyapatite (HA)) exhibit high compressive strength, low ductility, and high resistance to deformation; at the same time, ceramics are characterized by brittleness [32]. Ceramic materials are usually used as reinforcement in the production of polymer matrix composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. This allows to obtain biomimetic constructs (bone is also a composite made of organic collagen fibers and inorganic crystals of hydroxyapatite) and improve both biological and mechanical properties of the scaffold [33]. Indeed, neither natural nor synthetic polymers display high load-bearing strength compared to composite scaffolds.

Hence, composites scaffolds are mainly obtained by combining polymers with highly durable materials to improve the load-bearing strength of the constructs. Inorganic inclusions such as ceramic particles, carbon nanotubes, alloy particles, magnesium metallic are largely used in the literature [26, 28]. Depending on the size of the inorganic reinforcing fillers, nanocomposites can be distinguished from conventional composites. As far as regards bone tissue engineering, it is proved that the employing of nanofillers better replicate the natural bone structure, enhance the mechanical properties and, moreover, induce a more efficient cell response [34, 35].

It follows from the above that the polymers are the most used and promising materials in the context of bone tissue engineering. Therefore, **Table 2.1** is presented to summarize the benefits of polymeric 3D scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. It lists four main categories of additively manufactured scaffolds: (i) natural polymer-based scaffolds, (ii) synthetic polymer-based scaffolds, (iii) natural polymer-based composite scaffolds and (iv) synthetic polymer-based composite scaffolds.

38

Polymeric scaffold category	Biopolymer	Benefits	References
Natural polymer-based scaffolds	Collagen	80% cell viability, with highly porous microarchitectural properties.	[36]
	Collagen- fibrochondrocytes	High mechanical resilience and fiber-structural constructs.	[37]
	PEI coated alginate	Increasing cellular proliferation.	[38]
Synthetic polymer-based scaffolds	PCL	Significant bone repair and regeneration.	[39]
	PLGA	Good biocompatibility and osteoconductive properties in a rabbit model; Osteoconductive properties with comparable human osteoblast proliferation.	[40]
	PLA	Cellular targeting properties for bone repair	[41]
Synthetic polymer-based composite scaffolds	HA nanoparticles into PPF	High compressive strength with microporous constructs.	[42]
	PCL-PPF-HA	Substantial bone regeneration and mechanical durability	[43]
	PCL and β- tricalcium phosphate (β- TCP)	Potential for customization coupled with load-bearing implant.	[44]
	PCL-calcium phosphate	Cytocompatibility with suitable mechanical features for bone tissue repair (in vitro).	[45]
	HA, TCP, Bio- Oss (BO) and/or	Bioactivity and cellular adhesion of PCL scaffold	[46]

Table 2.1. Polymeric 3D printed scaffolds for bone tissue engineering (adapted from [5]).

	decellularized		
	bone matrix		
	(DCB)		
	PPF with calcium	Bone substitute material for	[/7]
	phosphate coating	segmental bone defects	[47]
	Gelatin/α-TCP/SF (silk-fibroin)	Significant mechanical	
		properties, cellular proliferation	[48]
		and differentiation.	
		Greater osteoblast cell	
	Chitosan-based	proliferation, improved	[40]
Natural polymer-based	hydrogel	biodegradation and mechanical	[49]
composite scaffolds		integrity.	
		Good cellular proliferation and	
	α-TCP/collagen	excellent delivery system for	[50]
		bone tissue regeneration	
	Collagen with	Improved mechanical properties	[51]
	ABS impregnated	improved meenamear properties	[31]

In this context, scaffold manufacturing is usually performed by means of a Computer Aided Design and Computer Aided Manufacturing (CAD/CAM) approach; this consists of four main steps: (i) the patient's medical images are acquired by means of non-invasive techniques, i.e., Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) and Computerized Tomography (CT), and the geometry of the defect is transformed into digital data; (ii) the 3D custom scaffold is designed by means of CAD tools on the basis of the previously acquired and processed medical images; (iii) digital data are converted into a format (typically a G-CODE) that is readable by an AM machine; (iv) datasets are transformed into solid objects by means of a machine using a specific AM technique.

Most used AM techniques for scaffolding are SLA, FDM and SLS. Stereolithography allows to realize scaffolds through the photopolymerization of a photo-sensitive resin layer-by layer. The manufacturing process ends washing off the uncured resin and post-curing the scaffold under UV light. In [52] SLA is used to realize an osteoconductive nanocrystalline HA material. The work shows

good results in terms of adhesion, proliferation and osteochondral differentiation of cell bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). Micro-stereolithography (micro-SLA), Two-Photon Polymerization (TPP) and Digital Light Processing (DLP) are evolvement of SLA technology, which enable more efficient and higher speed building generation. Micro-SLA uses a single photon beam, smaller diameter of laser spot and a submicron resolution of movements. In [83], PFF scaffolds fabricated by means of micro-SLA exhibit mechanical properties close to those of human trabecular bone. TPP ignites the solidification of the photo-curable resins thanks to the absorption of two radiations photons enabling nanometric resolution. It involves the use of a femtosecond laser which emits IR. In [53] TPP is used to fabricate a biodegradable PLA scaffold. This star-shaped scaffold supported in vitro osteogenic differentiation and in vivo bone tissue formation. DLP processes a whole layer at time is cured by using dynamic masks. A digital light projector is used instead of lasers. The process allows filling a large amount of ceramic particles into photo-curable resins. The major drawback of this technique is related to the cytotoxicity of the resins, and therefore materials with better in vivo biocompatibility (i.e., vinyl esters resins) are explored in other researches [54]. FDM allows controlling porosity of 3D scaffolds by modifying the material deposition amount, the fiber diameter, the spacing among the fiber, and the layer height. No toxic solvents are required, and the results is scaffold with high porosity and good mechanical properties. This technique shows flexibility in material processing. PCL-HA o PCL-TCP composites scaffolds are realized by means

of FDM for bone tissue regeneration.

SLS is used to realize scaffolds starting from powder material. A laser sinters powder, binding materials to obtain a solid architecture. SLS allows realizing metallic and ceramic scaffolds. Also powder of polymeric materials are studied and tested to ascertain their laser sinterability. Thus, 3D scaffolds made of PCL and a combination of PEEK and HA are realized for bone tissue engineering. These are characterized by a porous interior structure and an anatomically shaped external architecture and therefore are suitable when mechanical strength and high fracture toughness are

required. The necessity of removing trapped powder in the post processing phase on a side, and the required high operating temperature, are the main disadvantages related to SLS technologies. The concept of creating 3D scaffold through an additive approach, even incorporating living cells during the manufacturing process raised significant attention in recent years. 3D Printing (3DP) and Bioprinting (also named 3D plotting or Direct-Writing) are facing remarkable developments. The 3DP belongs to Binder Jetting AM technologies. It consists in the ink-jet print of a liquid binder onto a powder bed at room temperature. 3DP is used to directly fabricate the actual scaffolds, or to print molds. Pharmaceutical and biological agents, e.g., peptides, proteins, polysaccharides, DNA plasmids and cells, can be incorporated into powder materials and processed due to the manufacturing process takes place at room temperature. This can improve the process of bone tissue formation. Bioprinting gained interest since it allows accurately controlling cell distribution by dispensing

together small units of cells and biomaterials with micrometer precision. Tissue-like structures are additively manufactured in a scalable and cost-effective way. Hydrogels are currently the most processed materials by means of bioprinting technologies. Jetting-, extrusion-, laser-based printing are the most used bioprinting techniques.

Jetting-based bioprinting allows realizing 2D or 3D structures by spraying picolitre bio-ink droplets onto a substrate. Piezoelectric ink-jetting, electro-hydrodynamic and acoustic wave jetting are some examples of material jetting techniques. Low costs, high printing speed (the printer heads support parallel work mode) and relatively high cell viability (80/90%) are the main advantages related to these techniques. However, there are also disadvantages to take into account: the print head nozzle frequently clogs due to variations in viscosity as the temperature changes; heating causes uneven particle arrangements.

Extrusion-based bioprinting systems is used to fabricate 2D or 3D scaffolds by dispensing hydrogels mixed with cellular material (i.e., bio-ink) in the form of continuous filaments. The bioink is extruded through a micronozzle by employing pneumatic pressure and following a defined path. Then the material solidifies by means of chemical or physical processes. The three-dimensional structures are

realized by assembling 3D patterns layer-by-layer. Extrusion-based bioprinting allows high viscosity bio-inks to be processed through the micronozzle. Furthermore, the devices that are realized by means this technique exhibits high cell viability (greater than 90%). The main drawbacks are the shear stress on cellular materials and the restricted resolution obtainable.

Laser-based bioprinting employs the energy of pulsed laser to transfer cell-suspended materials from a "ribbon" (glass typically covered with a layer of gold or titanium) to a receiving substrate. A pulsed laser beam is focused on the "ribbon" causing the evaporation of the liquid biological material composed of hydrogels and cells. Consequently, the evaporated material can reach the receiving substrate in droplet form. This procedure does not require nozzle, and therefore the problems of nozzle clogging with cells or materials is solved. Moreover, biomaterial with a high range of viscosities (1-300 mPa/s) can be processed by means of this technique [4, 55].

2.1.3. Additively manufactured magnetic scaffolds

A recent approach in TE involves the use of magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) for the manufacturing of magnetic responsive scaffolds. In the medical context, MNPs exhibit interesting physical properties and provide appealing possibilities because of their size, ranging from a few nanometres up to tens of nanometres. These dimensions are comparable to several biological entities, e.g., protein, gene, cell, or virus. MNPs below 30 nm in size, present superparamagnetic behaviour, exhibiting the ability to be magnetized by applying a magnetic field without remanence once the field is turned off [56–58]. The use of magnetic nanoparticles as reinforcement of polymeric matrix scaffolds, combined with an external magnetic field appears to be a viable strategy specially to promote bone tissue regeneration. Magnetic scaffolds could address the problem of mimicking endogenous growth factors production by achieving controlled delivery and release, rather than growth factors seeding prior to implantation. These bone graft substitutes could be magnetically switched on/off enabling its usage for delivering biomolecules *in vivo* and for the stimulation of adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation of cells [59].

Zhao et al. [60] distributed magnetic nanoparticles in macro-porous ferrogel scaffolds embedded in iron oxide nanoparticles aiming to optimize porous structure of the scaffolds for cell delivery. In [61] the authors realized magnetic poly (ε-caprolactone)/iron-doped hydroxyapatite nanocomposites for both repairing damaged tissues and hyperthermia treatment. The authors' key idea was to utilize a poly(ε-caprolactone) (PCL) matrix reinforced with iron-doped Hydroxyapatite (FeHA) nanoparticles to realize a fully biodegradable structure with high mechanical properties. In this way it is possible to realize a porous structure, manufactured using rapid prototyping technique, which do not require to be removed surgically but is able to biodegrade once the treatment is done. Panseri et al. [62] proposed hydroxyapatite/collagen magnetic scaffolds for orthopedic tissue engineering with the aim of attracting growth factors and cells attached to other MNPs. Magnetic scaffolds can be seen as static stations that can be reloaded again and again after implantation, every time the healing process requires this action, providing the unique possibility of customizing the scaffold activity to the needs of the healing tissue. Such a strategy aims to mimic the real endogenous growth factors production of the human body in order to enhance the tissue regeneration and angiogenesis processes.

In this context, superparamagnetic material allows to realize magnetic scaffolds capable of reaching magnetization values up to 15 emu g⁻¹ at 10 kOe for the adhesion of ferrofluids or MNPs when an external magnetic field is applied [57], and then capable of being magnetically turned off by simply by removing the applied magnetic field.

Benefiting from AM technologies and from MNPs features it is possible to design and manufacture magnetic polymer-based nanocomposite scaffolds. De Santis R. et al. [63] shown the possibility to embed superparamagnetic PVP-coated Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles in a PCL matrix in order to realize a magnetic scaffold and provide a programmed bio-factor release by means of an external magnetic field. However, the long-term effects of the iron-oxide-based phases such as maghemite or magnetite in the human body are still unclear [64, 65]. Therefore, the research efforts focused on the necessity of have non-toxic MNPs for this kind of applications. A bioresorbable and biocompatible superparamagnetic-like phase is realized by Tampieri et al. [56] through doping hydroxyapatite with

 Fe^{3+}/Fe^{2+} ions (FeHA), minimizing the formation of magnetite as secondary phase. FeHA nanoparticles in a PCL matrix is already used by Gloria et al. [61] to realize nanocomposite substrates which were evaluated in magnetic and biological performances.

Relating to the use of magnetic devices in the medical context, it is also reported that the presence of a moderate external static magnetic field can have positive effects on osteoblast cells, wound healing and pain release even without the presence of magnetic nanoparticles [66–68].

2.2. Scaffold Design for AM

AM technology enable the precise fabrication of geometry-based constructs at the level of cellular design, e.g., body-centered-cubic/octahedron (BCC/OC), Diamond/face-centered-cubic (FCC), rhombic dodecahedron (RD) and so on. Parametric design, such as Voronoi and Triply Periodic Minimal Surface (TPMS) can also be achieved by means of AM technology. Scaffolds that are based on these structures presents high randomization, functional internal connectivity, and excellent mechanical characteristics. Gradient porosity is also realizable in order to mimic the whole structure of natural bone and its excellent mechanical property distribution.

In the following, the approaches to realize porous scaffolds are classified into cellular design, including non-parametric and parametric design, and whole design, including uniform, gradient and topological optimization-based design.

2.2.1.Cellular Design

The basis of the porous construct is defined unit cell. Non-parametric design involves geometric and structural design. Parametric design involves the generation of cellular structures according to specific algorithms. The various designs have different performance.

<u>Non-parametric design</u> is based both on 3D structures and plane structures. The 3D structure-based design uses BCC, Diamond/FCC and other polyhedron structures as unit cells. The most common plane structural based design is honeycomb.

The *body-centered-cubic/octahedron* is frequently used due to the relatively ease of design and manufacturing due to the proper inclination of all struts which minimizes the warping effect during

the AM process, including the SLM process. The original geometry of BCC/OC is represented in Figure 2.1a, and it is obtained by connecting the center of a hexahedron with eight vertices. The Young's modulus of the orthopedic scaffolds which are designed using BCC/OC geometry, could be reduced by 75-80% [69]. Furthermore, these scaffolds have highly predictable size effects and, therefore, the mechanical features corresponding to porosity can be accurately deduced. Concerning the mass transport properties, when any fluid passes through the strut cross, its speed slows down, and generally, the low flow rate is beneficial for cell proliferation. Hence, as showed by [70] the BCC/OC scaffolds have advantages in bone ingrowth. Despite this, these BCC/OC based scaffolds have not satisfactory compressive properties. Some variants of the classic BCC/OC geometry are proposed in literature, including the pillar BCC (see Figure 2.1d) with the eight vertices connected to obtain a reinforced structure [69, 71], the BCCz unit (see Figure 2.1b) with four reinforcements in the z-axis [72, 73], the BCC unit modified by adding vertical stiffeners through the center of the BCC/OC unit (see Figure 2.1c) [74]. All these variants exhibit better compressive properties and Young's modulus than the original BCC/OC unit. However, the addition of stiffeners has an impact on the anisotropy and on the fatigue life of the scaffolds. The combination of FCC and BCC, the face and body-centered cube cell with vertical struts (FBCC/FBCCz), is another variant which allows to reach higher stiffness than the original BCC/OC [74]. Therefore, on one hand, BCC and its reinforced design have excellent mechanical features and easy to manufacture characteristics, on the other, they have insufficient internal surface area and relatively low anisotropy.



Figure 2.1. The BCC unit and its variants: (a) the original BCC unit; (b) the BCCz unit; (c) the reinforced BCC unit by adding vertical stiffeners through the center of the unit; (d) the pillar BCC unit (adapted from [3]).

The diamond cell is a typical unit cells for AM of orthopedic scaffolds. This cell, as showed in **Figure** 2.2, possesses FCC basic configuration with tetrahedral angles of 109° between each element; it has sixteen equal edges and fourteen vertices. In [75, 76], the authors evaluate the mechanical properties of a Diamond/FCC scaffold made of Ti6Al4V and show that its Young's modulus is similar to natural bone. The Diamond/FCC scaffolds with a low porosity have Young's modulus and compressive strength similar to cortical bone, whereas the scaffold with high porosity presents the same characteristics similar to cancellous bone [77]. Therefore, the mechanical properties of the Diamond/FCC scaffold make it suitable for bone implants. The Diamond/FCC scaffolds made in degradable materials also show excellent mechanical properties. Magnesium (Mg) and iron (Fe) are usually used as reinforcement of biodegradable materials. Li et al. [78] studied the mechanical features of degradable porous magnesium scaffolds, showing that, even after four weeks of biodegradation in vitro, the Diamond/FCC designed structures have the Young's modulus in the range of the cancellous bone (700-800 MPa). Concerning the biological properties, [79] designed Ti6Al4V Diamond/FCC scaffolds with different pore sized in order to evaluate their biocompatibility in vitro and osseointegration in vivo. [79] shows that the pore size most suitable for bone integration is in the range of 300-400 µm, whereas [80] shows that, for titanium and tantalum (Ti/Ta) scaffolds, the pore diameter of 500 µm allows excellent osteogenesis.



Figure 2.2. The Diamond unit [3].

Taniguchi et al. [81] identified the pore diameter of $600 \ \mu m$ as the most suitable size both for bone ingrowth and mechanical properties of Diamond/FCC titanium scaffolds. These differences in results

are due to the different materials used for manufacturing, but, at the same time it also indicated that the Diamond/FCC structures with reasonable pore diameter are suitable for the adsorption and proliferation of osteoblast. Hence, the Diamond/FCC is a cellular design with excellent mechanical characteristics and good bone growth. Moreover, the Diamond/FCC scaffolds show an almost isotropic behaviour as the mechanical performance are almost the same in different directions, and therefore, they could be applied to the situation of under multidirectional stress in orthopedic applications.

Rhombic Dodecahedron (RD), truncated cube (TC), Octet, and Rhombic Cube Octahedron are other polyhedron structures commonly used in orthopedics. Among these, it is worth describing the RD scaffolds properties: RD is a central symmetric structure (see **Figure 2.3**) which shows the same mechanical properties in the three main directions [82]; the Young's modulus and the compressive strength of the RD are close to the cancellous bone in high porosity [83]; fatigue life is sufficient to be used to realize orthopedic scaffolds. Moreover, RD scaffolds exhibit good biological properties since the RD geometry allows providing the required nutrition and oxygen supply for cells, resulting in an excellent osteogenic microenvironment for the integration of osteoblasts [83].



Figure 2.3. The rhombic dodecahedron cell unit [3].

Honeycomb structure has low weight, high porosity, high stiffness, and it is used as for structural and biomedical applications. By modifying the honeycomb porosity, Young's modulus can be adjusted between cortical and cancellous bone [84].

<u>Parametric design</u> consists in generating a porous structure according to algorithms. Voronoi-Tessellation and TPMS are the two main methods to design porous constructs according to algorithms.

The Voronoi structure reproduces closely the microstructure of bone in morphology, generating a mesh structure based on random discrete points which are connected to be a network structure [85]. The Voronoi unit cells are shown in Figure 2.4. In literature, Voronoi based scaffolds are built in several manners [86], including reverse creating from tomography (CT) images [87], or using Bspline curves to represent the boundaries of the irregular shaped pores [85]. The Voronoi tessellation method used in [88] allowed to design porous scaffolds by means of computer design software by matching the histomorphometric indices of trabecular bone, i.e., trabecular thickness and separation, trabecular number, bone surface to total surface ratio, bone volume to total volume ratio. Although this method allows obtaining an isotropic porous interconnected model, it shows inevitable problems such as poor repeatability, long cycle time and energy consuming. Sharma et al. [89] manufactured Voronoi based aluminium scaffolds which exhibited a high load to weight ratio which is one of the main parameters for these devices. Gradient porosity, ranging from 60% to 95%, allows reaching excellent mechanical properties for Voronoi-based scaffolds. Moreover, these kinds of scaffolds show remarkable fluid properties, allowing to achieve excellent cell adhesion, migration and bone ingrowth. Concluding, the main advantage of Voronoi design is the similarity with cancellous bone in terms of bionics, mechanical features and bone ingrowth.



Figure 2.4. The Voronoi unit cells [3].

Structures with Triply Periodic Minimal Surface (TPMS), i.e., skeletal TPMS and sheet TPMS, are made by repeating elements with the minimum possible area. They are infinite smooth surfaces, in which space is divided into two disjoint sub volumes without self-intersection; furthermore, they are periodic in three independent surfaces [3]. Theoretically TPMS is an excellent structure for cell proliferation [90]. Several variants of TPMS structures are proposed in literature, including Diamond, Primitive, Gyroid skeletal TPMS which have the most flexible design space [91, 92]. The TPMS is in general a very good choice for orthopedic scaffolds. The variants of TPMS exhibit properties close to natural bone in terms of Young's modulus, compressive strength, porosity rate and permeability. It is possible to distinguish between stretching TPMS structures that have excellent mechanical properties and bending structures that have better performance in permeability.

2.2.2.The whole Design

The whole design section aims to focus on the whole design of the porous structure instead of the unit cells, discussing the effect of porosity on biology and mechanical properties from a macroscopic point of view. The proposed whole design definition includes four categories: uniform design, layered gradient design, continuous gradient design and design based on topological optimization.

<u>Uniform design</u> allows obtaining the same porosity for the entire scaffold. Therefore, there are two main situations: high porosity scaffold mimicking cancellous bone, and low porosity scaffold replicating cortical bone. The management of the porosity rate is crucial to obtain the desired mechanical and biological scaffold properties. In [93], Wielding et al. manufactured a porous Ti6Al4V scaffold with porosity in the range of 60-80%, which shows a Young's modulus of 6-8 GPa. Both elastic modulus and porosity are remarkably similar to cancellous bone. Torres-Sanchez et al. [23] replicate cortical bone through titanium scaffolds with porosity value of 27-37%. Regarding the bone ingrowth, over 60% porosity and pore size larger than 300 µm promote bone formation [79, 94, 95] probably due to the high permeability. Nevertheless, living tissue are not homogenous structures and, therefore, uniform design of scaffolds may lead to sub-optimal results.

Layered gradient design comes from the idea of mimicking the layered structure of bone [96]. This approach to scaffold designing consists in realizing a scaffold with low to high porosity in different layers. Various methods can be used to design the layered gradient structures. Shi et al. [97] design and fabricate a three layer gradient scaffold by changing struct diameter and achieving a porosity rate from 68.5% to 88.2% and an elastic modulus of 12-18 GPa. In general, the layered structure is the best structure to simulate bone. Both mechanical and biological characteristics of layered gradient scaffolds are better than the scaffold with a uniform porous structure. However, the stress transition and the connection between the layers represent a problem to solve.

<u>Continuous gradient design</u> represents an approach that aims to solve the above-mentioned issues related to layer gradient design. Continuous gradient structures can be generated by progressively modifying the strut diameter of a BCC unit cell [98]. Small pores in the core of the structure and large pore in the outer surface allows on the one hand to increase mechanical strength and on the other hand to increase cell penetration and proliferation. The continuous gradient structure provides a way for the efficient transfer of nutrients, exhibiting excellent osteogenic performance. Therefore, in general, continuous gradient scaffolds show mechanical properties changing continuously with the gradient, an elastic modulus within the range of bone Young's modulus, a compressive strength higher than the bone. Bone ingrowth also appears to benefit from continuous gradient design.

Design based on Topological Optimization (TO) aims to optimize the material distribution within the design space according to a given set of loads, boundary conditions and constraints in order to maximize the performance of the scaffolds. In the medical field, the most common approach for Topological Optimization is the continuum approach, which is a micromechanics theory-based method that considers the design space as an artificial composite material with a huge number of periodically distributed small cavities. The finally optimized model presents small hole regions which are filled and areas with large apertures which are considered empty [99, 100]. Hollister et al. [101] presented an image-based approach to design and fabricate patient-specific craniofacial scaffolds directly from MRI or CR data. In their work, Hollister at al. use voxel density distribution to describe

scaffold topology. By combining Topological Optimization with Finite Element Analysis (FEA) it is possible to identify high-stress regions and properly distribute material to maximize the stiffness for a given material volume fraction [102]. TPMS can also be used as a Topological Optimization main unit [103]. Thus, concluding, the TO approaches in orthopedics are able to make the scaffold porosity and the stress distribution more acceptable to prevent the stress shielding effect.

2.3. Conclusion

In the context of bone tissue engineering, scaffolds are used to substitute or repair damaged tissue with the aim of improving cell viability, adhesion, proliferation, osteogenic differentiation, vascularization, and load bearing. AM technologies enabled the possibility to manufacture complex TE scaffolds with several compositions and internal architecture, allowing to tune both biological and mechanical properties.

AM offers the possibility of achieving good reproducibility and control over the microstructure and shape of the scaffolds, and therefore, it enables the development of customized advanced tissue engineered constructs that meet specific requirements in terms of geometry, pore size, pore interconnectivity, anatomical size and shape. Furthermore, AM techniques allow for high automation of the manufacturing process compared to the traditional scaffold fabrication techniques.

Due to the versatility of AM technologies a wide range of materials can be processed. To date, scientific community is still working on ideal materials for developing 3D constructs that mimic bone (trabecular, cortical, cancellous bone) characteristic. Synthetic-based composite scaffolds are very similar to natural bone. The use of certain particles reinforcement in polymeric matrices allows obtaining unique features in the scaffolds. Fully biodegradable scaffolds made of polymeric matrices and MNPs reinforcement are presented in literature. The use of magnetic forces as a means of achieving controlled assembly of tissue regeneration appears as a promising approach. The literature shows that magnetic scaffolds have a great potential to meet several clinical requirements for bone tissue regeneration.

The design of the porous structure is crucial as it affects both mechanical and biological features. The main approaches, starting from the description of the single cell units to the whole design, are presented above.

References

- Mota, C., Puppi, D., Chiellini, F., Chiellini, E.: Additive manufacturing techniques for the production of tissue engineering constructs. J. Tissue Eng. Regen. Med. 9, 174–190 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1002/term.1635.
- Hutmacher, D.W.: Scaffolds in tissue engineering bone and cartilage. Biomaterials. 21, 2529– 2543 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-9612(00)00121-6.
- Chen, H., Han, Q., Wang, C., Liu, Y., Chen, B., Wang, J.: Porous Scaffold Design for Additive Manufacturing in Orthopedics: A Review. Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 8, 609 (2020).
- Roseti, L., Parisi, V., Petretta, M., Cavallo, C., Desando, G., Bartolotti, I., Grigolo, B.: Scaffolds for Bone Tissue Engineering: State of the Art and New Perspectives. Mater. Sci. Eng. C Mater. Biol. Appl. 78, 1246–1262 (2017).
- 5. Du Toit, L.C., Kumar, P., Choonara, Y.E., Pillay, V.: Advanced 3D-Printed Systems and Nanosystems for Drug Delivery and Tissue Engineering. Elsevier (2020).
- 6. Turnbull, G., Clarke, J., Picard, F., Riches, P., Jia, L., Han, F., Li, B., Shu, W.: 3D bioactive composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Bioact. Mater. 3, 278–314 (2018).
- Bianco, P., Riminucci, M., Gronthos, S., Robey, P.G.: Bone marrow stromal stem cells: nature, biology, and potential applications. Stem Cells. 19, 180–192 (2001).
- 8. Blair, H.C., Sun, L.I., Kohanski, R.A.: Balanced regulation of proliferation, growth, differentiation, and degradation in skeletal cells. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1116, 165–173 (2007).
- Curry, A.S., Pensa, N.W., Barlow, A.M., Bellis, S.L.: Taking Cues From the Extracellular Matrix to Design Bone-Mimetic Regenerative Scaffolds. Matrix Biol. J. Int. Soc. Matrix Biol. 52, 397– 412 (2016).
- 10. Fillingham, Y., Jacobs, J.: Bone grafts and their substitutes. Bone Jt. J. 98, 6–9 (2016).
- Florencio-Silva, R., Sasso, G.R., Sasso-Cerri, E., Simões, M.J., Cerri, P.S.: Biology of Bone Tissue: Structure, Function, and Factors That Influence Bone Cells. Biomed Res. Int. 2015, 421746–421746 (2015).
- Mohammadi, M., Shaegh, S.A.M., Alibolandi, M., Ebrahimzadeh, M.H., Tamayol, A., Jaafari, M.R., Ramezani, M.: Micro and nanotechnologies for bone regeneration: Recent advances and emerging designs. J. Controlled Release. 274, 35–55 (2018).

- Arjunan, A., Demetriou, M., Baroutaji, A., Wang, C.: Mechanical performance of highly permeable laser melted Ti6Al4V bone scaffolds. J. Mech. Behav. Biomed. Mater. 102, 103517 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmbbm.2019.103517.
- Arabnejad, S., Burnett Johnston, R., Pura, J.A., Singh, B., Tanzer, M., Pasini, D.: High-strength porous biomaterials for bone replacement: A strategy to assess the interplay between cell morphology, mechanical properties, bone ingrowth and manufacturing constraints. Acta Biomater. 30, 345–356 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2015.10.048.
- Wirtz, D.C., Schiffers, N., Pandorf, T., Radermacher, K., Weichert, D., Forst, R.: Critical evaluation of known bone material properties to realize anisotropic FE-simulation of the proximal femur. J. Biomech. 33, 1325–1330 (2000).
- Dickenson, R.P., Hutton, W.C., Stott, J.R.: The mechanical properties of bone in osteoporosis. J. Bone Joint Surg. Br. 63, 233–238 (1981).
- Burstein, A.H., Reilly, D.T., Martens, M.: Aging of bone tissue: mechanical properties. J. Bone Joint Surg. Am. 58, 82–86 (1976).
- Morgan, E.F., Keaveny, T.M.: Dependence of Yield Strain of Human Trabecular Bone on Anatomic Site. J. Biomech. 34, 569–577 (2001).
- 19. Zysset, P.K., Guo, X.E., Hoffler, C.E., Moore, K.E., Goldstein, S.A.: Elastic modulus and hardness of cortical and trabecular bone lamellae measured by nanoindentation in the human femur. J. Biomech. 32, 1005–1012 (1999).
- Morgan, E.F., Bayraktar, H.H., Keaveny, T.M.: Trabecular bone modulus-density relationships depend on anatomic site. J. Biomech. 36, 897–904 (2003).
- Choi, K., Kuhn, J.L., Ciarelli, M.J., Goldstein, S.A.: The elastic moduli of human subchondral, trabecular, and cortical bone tissue and the size-dependency of cortical bone modulus. J. Biomech. 23, 1103–1113 (1990).
- Zadpoor, A.A.: Bone tissue regeneration: the role of scaffold geometry. Biomater. Sci. 3, 231– 245 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1039/C4BM00291A.
- Torres-Sanchez, C., Al Mushref, F.R.A., Norrito, M., Yendall, K., Liu, Y., Conway, P.P.: The effect of pore size and porosity on mechanical properties and biological response of porous titanium scaffolds. Mater. Sci. Eng. C. 77, 219–228 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2017.03.249.
- Thavornyutikarn, B., Chantarapanich, N., Sitthiseripratip, K., Thouas, G.A., Chen, Q.: Bone tissue engineering scaffolding: computer-aided scaffolding techniques. Prog. Biomater. 2, 61–102 (2014).

- Gómez-Lizárraga, K.K., Flores-Morales, C., ML, D.P.-A., Álvarez-Pérez, M.A., Piña-Barba, M.C., Escobedo, C.: Polycaprolactone-and polycaprolactone/ceramic-based 3D-bioplotted porous scaffolds for bone regeneration: A comparative study. Mater. Sci. Eng. C Mater. Biol. Appl. 79, 326–335 (2017).
- Matassi, F., Nistri, L., Paez, D.C., Innocenti, M.: New biomaterials for bone regeneration. Clin. Cases Miner. Bone Metab. 8, 21–24 (2011).
- Villa, M.M., Wang, L., Huang, J., Rowe, D.W., Wei, M.: Bone tissue engineering with a collagen–hydroxyapatite scaffold and culture expanded bone marrow stromal cells. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. B Appl. Biomater. 103, 243–253 (2015).
- Fucile, P., Onofrio, I., Papallo, I., Gallicchio, V., Rega, A., D'Antò, V., Improta, G., De Santis, R., Gloria, A., Russo, T.: Strategies for the design of additively manufactured nanocomposite scaffolds for hard tissue regeneration. ACTA IMEKO. 9, 53–59 (2020).
- 29. Woodruff, M.A., Hutmacher, D.W.: The return of a forgotten polymer—Polycaprolactone in the 21st century. Prog. Polym. Sci. 35, 1217–1256 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2010.04.002.
- Kim, H.-W., Knowles, J.C., Kim, H.-E.: Hydroxyapatite/poly(ε-caprolactone) composite coatings on hydroxyapatite porous bone scaffold for drug delivery. Biomaterials. 25, 1279–1287 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2003.07.003.
- Rich, J., Jaakkola, T., Tirri, T., Närhi, T., Yli-Urpo, A., Seppälä, J.: In vitro evaluation of poly(εcaprolactone-co-DL-lactide)/bioactive glass composites. Biomaterials. 23, 2143–2150 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-9612(01)00345-3.
- 32. Gao, C., Deng, Y., Feng, P., Mao, Z., Li, P., Yang, B., Deng, J., Cao, Y., Shuai, C., Peng, S.: Current Progress in Bioactive Ceramic Scaffolds for Bone Repair and Regeneration. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 15, 4714–4732 (2014). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms15034714.
- Bharadwaz, A., Jayasuriya, A.C.: Recent Trends in the Application of Widely Used Natural and Synthetic Polymer Nanocomposites in Bone Tissue Regeneration. Mater. Sci. Eng. C Mater. Biol. Appl. 110, 110698 (2020).
- Rogel, M.R., Qiu, H., Ameer, G.A.: The role of nanocomposites in bone regeneration. J. Mater. Chem. 18, 4233–4241 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1039/B804692A.
- Gloria, A., De Santis, R., Ambrosio, L.: Polymer-based composite scaffolds for tissue engineering. J. Appl. Biomater. Biomech. 8, 57–67 (2010).
- 36. Díaz Nocera, A., Comin, R., Salvatierra, N.A., Cid, M.P.: Development of 3D printed fibrillar collagen scaffold for tissue engineering. (2018).

- Rhee, S., Puetzer, J.L., Mason, B.N., Reinhart-King, C.A., Bonassar, L.J.: 3D bioprinting of spatially heterogeneous collagen constructs for cartilage tissue engineering. ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng. 2, 1800–1805 (2016).
- Mendoza García, M.A., Izadifar, M., Chen, X.: Evaluation of PBS treatment and PEI coating effects on surface morphology and cellular response of 3D-printed alginate scaffolds. J. Funct. Biomater. 8, 48 (2017).
- 39. Temple, J.P., Hutton, D.L., Hung, B.P., Huri, P.Y., Cook, C.A., Kondragunta, R., Jia, X., Grayson, W.L.: Engineering anatomically shaped vascularized bone grafts with hASCs and 3Dprinted PCL scaffolds. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A. 102, 4317–4325 (2014).
- 40. Ge, Z., Tian, X., Heng, B.C., Fan, V., Yeo, J.F., Cao, T.: Histological evaluation of osteogenesis of 3D-printed poly-lactic-co-glycolic acid (PLGA) scaffolds in a rabbit model. Biomed. Mater. 4, 021001 (2009).
- Ge, Z., Wang, L., Heng, B.C., Tian, X.-F., Lu, K., Tai Weng Fan, V., Yeo, J.F., Cao, T., Tan, E.: Proliferation and differentiation of human osteoblasts within 3D printed poly-lactic-co-glycolic acid scaffolds. J. Biomater. Appl. 23, 533–547 (2009).
- Trachtenberg, J.E., Placone, J.K., Smith, B.T., Fisher, J.P., Mikos, A.G.: Extrusion-based 3D printing of poly (propylene fumarate) scaffolds with hydroxyapatite gradients. J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 28, 532–554 (2017).
- 43. Buyuksungur, S., Endogan Tanir, T., Buyuksungur, A., Bektas, E.I., Torun Kose, G., Yucel, D., Beyzadeoglu, T., Cetinkaya, E., Yenigun, C., Tönük, E.: 3D printed poly (ε-caprolactone) scaffolds modified with hydroxyapatite and poly (propylene fumarate) and their effects on the healing of rabbit femur defects. Biomater. Sci. (2017).
- 44. Kawai, T., Shanjani, Y., Fazeli, S., Behn, A.W., Okuzu, Y., Goodman, S.B., Yang, Y.P.: Customized, degradable, functionally graded scaffold for potential treatment of early stage osteonecrosis of the femoral head. J. Orthop. Res. 36, 1002–1011 (2018).
- Mondrinos, M.J., Dembzynski, R., Lu, L., Byrapogu, V.K., Wootton, D.M., Lelkes, P.I., Zhou, J.: Porogen-based Solid Freeform Fabrication of Polycaprolactone-Calcium Phosphate Scaffolds for Tissue Engineering. Biomaterials. 27, 4399–4408 (2006).
- 46. Nyberg, E., Rindone, A., Dorafshar, A., Grayson, W.L.: Comparison of 3D-Printed Poly-ε-Caprolactone Scaffolds Functionalized with Tricalcium Phosphate, Hydroxyapatite, Bio-Oss, or Decellularized Bone Matrix. Tissue Eng. Part A. 23, 503–514 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2016.0418.
- Dadsetan, M., Guda, T., Runge, M.B., Mijares, D., LeGeros, R.Z., LeGeros, J.P., Silliman, D.T., Lu, L., Wenke, J.C., Baer, P.R.: Effect of Calcium Phosphate Coating and rhBMP-2 on Bone

Regeneration in Rabbit Calvaria Using Poly (propylene fumarate) Scaffolds. ARMY INST OF SURGICAL RESEARCH FORT SAM HOUSTON TX (2015).

- 48. Huh, J., Lee, J., Kim, W., Yeo, M., Kim, G.: Preparation and Characterization of gelatin/α-TCP/SF Biocomposite Scaffold for Bone Tissue Regeneration. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 110, 488– 496 (2018).
- 49. Liu, I.-H., Chang, S.-H., Lin, H.-Y.: Chitosan-based hydrogel tissue scaffolds made by 3D plotting promotes osteoblast proliferation and mineralization. Biomed. Mater. 10, 035004 (2015).
- Kim, W.J., Yun, H.S., Kim, G.H.: An innovative cell-laden α-TCP/collagen scaffold fabricated using a two-step printing process for potential application in regenerating hard tissues. Sci. Rep. 7, 3181–3181 (2017).
- Mozdzen, L.C., Rodgers, R., Banks, J.M., Bailey, R.C., Harley, B.A.: Increasing the strength and bioactivity of collagen scaffolds using customizable arrays of 3D-printed polymer fibers. Acta Biomater. 33, 25–33 (2016).
- Castro, N.J., O'Brien, J., Zhang, L.G.: Integrating biologically inspired nanomaterials and tabletop stereolithography for 3D printed biomimetic osteochondral scaffolds. Nanoscale. 7, 14010– 14022 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1039/C5NR03425F.
- 53. Timashev, P., Kuznetsova, D., Koroleva, A., Prodanets, N., Deiwick, A., Piskun, Y., Bardakova, K., Dzhoyashvili, N., Kostjuk, S., Zagaynova, E., Rochev, Y., Chichkov, B., Bagratashvili, V.: Novel biodegradable star-shaped polylactide scaffolds for bone regeneration fabricated by two-photon polymerization. Nanomed. 11, 1041–1053 (2016). https://doi.org/10.2217/nnm-2015-0022.
- 54. Heller, C., Schwentenwein, M., Russmueller, G., Varga, F., Stampfl, J., Liska, R.: Vinyl esters: Low cytotoxicity monomers for the fabrication of biocompatible 3D scaffolds by lithography based additive manufacturing. J. Polym. Sci. Part Polym. Chem. 47, 6941–6954 (2009).
- Li, J., Chen, M., Fan, X., Zhou, H.: Recent advances in bioprinting techniques: approaches, applications and future prospects. J. Transl. Med. 14, 271 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-016-1028-0.
- 56. Tampieri, A., D'Alessandro, T., Sandri, M., Sprio, S., Landi, E., Bertinetti, L., Panseri, S., Pepponi, G., Goettlicher, J., Bañobre-López, M., Rivas, J.: Intrinsic magnetism and hyperthermia in bioactive Fe-doped hydroxyapatite. Acta Biomater. 8, 843–851 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2011.09.032.
- Bock, N., Riminucci, A., Dionigi, C., Russo, A., Tampieri, A., Landi, E., Goranov, V.A., Marcacci, M., Dediu, V.: A novel route in bone tissue engineering: Magnetic biomimetic scaffolds. Acta Biomater. 6, 786–796 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2009.09.017.

- Pankhurst, Q.A., Connolly, J., Jones, S.K., Dobson, J.: Applications of magnetic nanoparticles in biomedicine. J. Phys. Appl. Phys. 36, R167–R181 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1088/0022-3727/36/13/201.
- D'Amora, U., Russo, T., Gloria, A., Rivieccio, V., D'Antò, V., Negri, G., Ambrosio, L., De Santis, R.: 3D additive-manufactured nanocomposite magnetic scaffolds: Effect of the application mode of a time-dependent magnetic field on hMSCs behavior. Bioact. Mater. 2, 138– 145 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioactmat.2017.04.003.
- Zhao, X., Kim, J., Cezar, C.A., Huebsch, N., Lee, K., Bouhadir, K., Mooney, D.J.: Active scaffolds for on-demand drug and cell delivery. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 108, 67–72 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1007862108.
- Gloria, A., Russo, T., d'Amora, U., Zeppetelli, S., d'Alessandro, T., Sandri, M., Bañobre-López, M., Piñeiro-Redondo, Y., Uhlarz, M., Tampieri, A.: Magnetic poly (ε-caprolactone)/iron-doped hydroxyapatite nanocomposite substrates for advanced bone tissue engineering. J. R. Soc. Interface. 10, 20120833 (2013).
- Panseri, S., Russo, A., Giavaresi, G., Sartori, M., Veronesi, F., Fini, M., Salter, D.M., Ortolani, A., Strazzari, A., Visani, A., Dionigi, C., Bock, N., Sandri, M., Tampieri, A., Marcacci, M.: Innovative magnetic scaffolds for orthopedic tissue engineering. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A. 100A, 2278–2286 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.34167.
- 63. De Santis, R., Gloria, A., Russo, T., D'Amora, U., Zeppetelli, S., Dionigi, C., Sytcheva, A., Herrmannsdörfer, T., Dediu, V., Ambrosio, L.: A basic approach toward the development of nanocomposite magnetic scaffolds for advanced bone tissue engineering. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 122, 3599–3605 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1002/app.34771.
- 64. Singh, N., Jenkins, G.J.S., Asadi, R., Doak, S.H.: Potential toxicity of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPION). Nano Rev. 1, 5358 (2010). https://doi.org/10.3402/nano.v1i0.5358.
- Lewinski, N., Colvin, V., Drezek, R.: Cytotoxicity of Nanoparticles. Small. 4, 26–49 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.200700595.
- 66. Lai, K., Jiang, W., Tang, J.Z., Wu, Y., He, B., Wang, G., Gu, Z.: Superparamagnetic nanocomposite scaffolds for promoting bone cell proliferation and defect reparation without a magnetic field. RSC Adv. 2, 13007–13017 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1039/C2RA22376G.
- 67. Xu, H.-Y., Gu, N.: Magnetic responsive scaffolds and magnetic fields in bone repair and regeneration. Front. Mater. Sci. 8, 20–31 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11706-014-0232-1.
- Cunha, C., Panseri, S., Marcacci, M., Tampieri, A.: Evaluation of the Effects of a Moderate Intensity Static Magnetic Field Application on Human Osteoblast-Like Cells. Am. J. Biomed. Eng. 2, 263–268 (2012).

- Wang, L., Kang, J., Sun, C., Li, D., Cao, Y., Jin, Z.: Mapping porous microstructures to yield desired mechanical properties for application in 3D printed bone scaffolds and orthopaedic implants. Mater. Des. 133, 62–68 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matdes.2017.07.021.
- Limmahakhun, S., Oloyede, A., Sitthiseripratip, K., Xiao, Y., Yan, C.: 3D-printed cellular structures for bone biomimetic implants. Addit. Manuf. 15, 93–101 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addma.2017.03.010.
- Limmahakhun, S., Oloyede, A., Sitthiseripratip, K., Xiao, Y., Yan, C.: Stiffness and strength tailoring of cobalt chromium graded cellular structures for stress-shielding reduction. Mater. Des. 114, 633–641 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matdes.2016.11.090.
- Maskery, I., Hussey, A., Panesar, A., Aremu, A., Tuck, C., Ashcroft, I., Hague, R.: An investigation into reinforced and functionally graded lattice structures. J. Cell. Plast. 53, 151–165 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1177/0021955X16639035.
- Beyer, C., Figueroa, D.: Design and Analysis of Lattice Structures for Additive Manufacturing. J. Manuf. Sci. Eng. 138, (2016). https://doi.org/10.1115/1.4033957.
- Feng, Q., Tang, Q., Liu, Z., Liu, Y., Setchi, R.: An investigation of the mechanical properties of metallic lattice structures fabricated using selective laser melting. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. Part B J. Eng. Manuf. 232, 1719–1730 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1177/0954405416668924.
- 75. Neff, C., Hopkinson, N., Crane, N.B.: Selective Laser Sintering of Diamond Lattice Structures: Experimental Results and FEA Model Comparison. (2015).
- Ahmadi, S.M., Campoli, G., Amin Yavari, S., Sajadi, B., Wauthle, R., Schrooten, J., Weinans, H., Zadpoor, A.A.: Mechanical behavior of regular open-cell porous biomaterials made of diamond lattice unit cells. J. Mech. Behav. Biomed. Mater. 34, 106–115 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmbbm.2014.02.003.
- 77. Zhang, B., Pei, X., Zhou, C., Fan, Y., Jiang, Q., Ronca, A., D'Amora, U., Chen, Y., Li, H., Sun, Y., Zhang, X.: The biomimetic design and 3D printing of customized mechanical properties porous Ti6Al4V scaffold for load-bearing bone reconstruction. Mater. Des. 152, 30–39 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matdes.2018.04.065.
- Li, Y., Zhou, J., Pavanram, P., Leeflang, M.A., Fockaert, L.I., Pouran, B., Tümer, N., Schröder, K.-U., Mol, J.M.C., Weinans, H., Jahr, H., Zadpoor, A.A.: Additively manufactured biodegradable porous magnesium. Acta Biomater. 67, 378–392 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.12.008.
- 79. Li, G., Wang, L., Pan, W., Yang, F., Jiang, W., Wu, X., Kong, X., Dai, K., Hao, Y.: In vitro and in vivo study of additive manufactured porous Ti6Al4V scaffolds for repairing bone defects. Sci. Rep. 6, 34072 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep34072.

- Wang, H., Su, K., Su, L., Liang, P., Ji, P., Wang, C.: Comparison of 3D-printed porous tantalum and titanium scaffolds on osteointegration and osteogenesis. Mater. Sci. Eng. C. 104, 109908 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2019.109908.
- Taniguchi, N., Fujibayashi, S., Takemoto, M., Sasaki, K., Otsuki, B., Nakamura, T., Matsushita, T., Kokubo, T., Matsuda, S.: Effect of pore size on bone ingrowth into porous titanium implants fabricated by additive manufacturing: An in vivo experiment. Mater. Sci. Eng. C. 59, 690–701 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2015.10.069.
- Xiao, L., Song, W., Wang, C., Liu, H., Tang, H., Wang, J.: Mechanical behavior of open-cell rhombic dodecahedron Ti–6Al–4V lattice structure. Mater. Sci. Eng. A. 640, 375–384 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msea.2015.06.018.
- Nune, K.C., Misra, R.D.K., Li, S.J., Hao, Y.L., Yang, R.: Cellular response of osteoblasts to low modulus Ti-24Nb-4Zr-8Sn alloy mesh structure. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A. 105, 859–870 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.35963.
- Golodnov, A.I., Loginov, Y.N., Stepanov, S.I.: Numeric loading simulation of titanium implant manufactured using 3d printing. In: Solid State Phenomena. pp. 380–385. Trans Tech Publ (2018).
- 85. Liu, T., Guessasma, S., Zhu, J., Zhang, W.: Designing Cellular Structures for Additive Manufacturing Using Voronoi–Monte Carlo Approach. Polymers. 11, 1158 (2019).
- Wang, G., Shen, L., Zhao, J., Liang, H., Xie, D., Tian, Z., Wang, C.: Design and Compressive Behavior of Controllable Irregular Porous Scaffolds: Based on Voronoi-Tessellation and for Additive Manufacturing. ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng. 4, 719–727 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.7b00916.
- Yang, H., Zhao, Y.: A new method for designing porous implant. In: DS 87-5 Proceedings of the 21st International Conference on Engineering Design (ICED 17) Vol 5: Design for X, Design to X, Vancouver, Canada, 21-25.08. 2017. pp. 337–344 (2017).
- 88. Gómez, S., Vlad, M.D., López, J., Fernández, E.: Design and properties of 3D scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Acta Biomater. 42, 341–350 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2016.06.032.
- Sharma, V., Grujovic, N., Zivic, F., Slavkovic, V.: Influence of Porosity on the Mechanical Behavior during Uniaxial Compressive Testing on Voronoi-Based Open-Cell Aluminium Foam. Materials. 12, 1041 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3390/ma12071041.
- 90. Afshar, M., Anaraki, A.P., Montazerian, H., Kadkhodapour, J.: Additive manufacturing and mechanical characterization of graded porosity scaffolds designed based on triply periodic

minimal surface architectures. J. Mech. Behav. Biomed. Mater. 62, 481–494 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmbbm.2016.05.027.

- Cai, Z., Liu, Z., Hu, X., Kuang, H., Zhai, J.: The effect of porosity on the mechanical properties of 3D-printed triply periodic minimal surface (TPMS) bioscaffold. Bio-Des. Manuf. 2, 242–255 (2019).
- Barba, D., Alabort, E., Reed, R.C.: Synthetic bone: Design by additive manufacturing. Acta Biomater. 97, 637–656 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2019.07.049.
- 93. Wieding, J., Lindner, T., Bergschmidt, P., Bader, R.: Biomechanical stability of novel mechanically adapted open-porous titanium scaffolds in metatarsal bone defects of sheep. Biomaterials. 46, 35–47 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.12.010.
- 94. Hollister, S., Lin, C., Saito, E., Lin, C., Schek, R., Taboas, J., Williams, J., Partee, B., Flanagan, C., Diggs, A., Wilke, E., Van Lenthe, G., Müller, R., Wirtz, T., Das, S., Feinberg, S., Krebsbach, P.: Engineering craniofacial scaffolds. Orthod. Craniofac. Res. 8, 162–173 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-6343.2005.00329.x.
- 95. Roosa, S.M.M., Kemppainen, J.M., Moffitt, E.N., Krebsbach, P.H., Hollister, S.J.: The pore size of polycaprolactone scaffolds has limited influence on bone regeneration in an in vivo model. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A. 92A, 359–368 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.32381.
- 96. Lerebours, C., Thomas, C.D.L., Clement, J.G., Buenzli, P.R., Pivonka, P.: The relationship between porosity and specific surface in human cortical bone is subject specific. Bone. 72, 109– 117 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2014.11.016.
- 97. Shi, J., Yang, J., Li, Z., Zhu, L., Li, L., Wang, X.: Design and fabrication of graduated porous Tibased alloy implants for biomedical applications. J. Alloys Compd. 728, 1043–1048 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jallcom.2017.08.190.
- 98. Onal, E., Frith, J.E., Jurg, M., Wu, X., Molotnikov, A.: Mechanical Properties and In Vitro Behavior of Additively Manufactured and Functionally Graded Ti6Al4V Porous Scaffolds. Metals. 8, 200 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3390/met8040200.
- Ruben, R.B., Fernandes, P.R., Folgado, J.: On the optimal shape of hip implants. J. Biomech. 45, 239–246 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2011.10.038.
- 100.SAVIO, G., MENEGHELLO, R., CONCHERI, G.: Optimization of lattice structures for Additive Manufacturing Technologies. In: Eynard, B., Nigrelli, V., Oliveri, S.M., Peris-Fajarnes, G., and Rizzuti, S. (eds.) Advances on Mechanics, Design Engineering and Manufacturing: Proceedings of the International Joint Conference on Mechanics, Design Engineering & Advanced Manufacturing (JCM 2016), 14-16 September, 2016, Catania, Italy. pp. 213–222. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-45781-9_22.
- 101.Hollister, S.J., Levy, R.A., Chu, T.-M., Halloran, J.W., Feinberg, S.E.: An image-based approach for designing and manufacturing craniofacial scaffolds. Int. J. Oral Maxillofac. Surg. 29, 67–71 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-0020.2000.290115.x.
- 102.Al-Tamimi, A.A., Peach, C., Fernandes, P.R., Cseke, A., Bartolo, P.J.D.S.: Topology Optimization to Reduce the Stress Shielding Effect for Orthopedic Applications. Procedia CIRP. 65, 202–206 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2017.04.032.
- 103.Li, D., Dai, N., Tang, Y., Dong, G., Zhao, Y.F.: Design and Optimization of Graded Cellular Structures With Triply Periodic Level Surface-Based Topological Shapes. J. Mech. Des. 141, (2019). https://doi.org/10.1115/1.4042617.

Chapter 3. Design of 3D additively manufactured scaffolds with integrated functionalities for bone tissue engineering

		I

I

_

_



-	
_	
_	



References

- Fucile, P., Onofrio, I., Papallo, I., Gallicchio, V., Rega, A., D'Antò, V., De Santis, R., Gloria, A., Russo, T.: Strategies for the design of additively manufactured nanocomposite scaffolds for hard tissue regeneration. ACTA IMEKO 9(4), 53-59 (2020).
- Archer, R., Williams, D. J.: Why tissue engineering needs process engineering. Nature biotechnology, 23(11), 1353, (2005).
- Ochs, J., Barry, F., Schmitt, R., Murphy, J. M.: Advances in automation for the production of clinical-grade mesenchymal stromal cells: the AUTOSTEM robotic platform. Cell Gene Therapy Insights, 3(8), 739-748, (2017).
- 4. Kulik, M., Ochs, J., König, N., Schmitt, R.: Automation in the context of stem cell production– where are we heading with Industry 4.0?. Cell Gene Therapy Insights, 2(4), 499-506, (2016).
- Jung, S., Ochs, J., Kulik, M., König, N., Schmitt, R. H.: Highly modular and generic control software for adaptive cell processing on automated production platforms. Procedia CIRP, 72, 1245-1250 (2018).
- Marx, U., Schenk, F., Behrens, J., Meyr, U., Wanek, P., Zang, W., Schmitt, R., Brüstle, O., Zenke, M., Klocke, F.: Automatic production of induced pluripotent stem cells. Procedia CIRP, 5, 2-6 (2013).
- 7. Bartolo, P., Domingos, M., Gloria, A., Ciurana, J.: BioCell Printing: Integrated automated assembly system for tissue engineering constructs. CIRP annals, 60(1), 271-274 (2011).
- Bártolo, P. J., Almeida, H. A., Rezende, R. A., Laoui T., Bidanda, B.: Advanced processes to fabricate scaffolds for tissue engineering. In: Virtual prototyping & bio manufacturing in medical applications (pp. 149-170). Springer, Boston, MA, (2008).
- Bauer, W., Bender, M., Braun, M., Rally, P., & Scholtz, O: Lightweight Robots in Manual Assembly–Best to Start Simply. Examining Companies' Initial Experiences with Lightweight Robots. Frauenhofer-Institut f
 ür Arbeitswirtschaft und Organisation IAO, Stuttgart, 63, (2016).
- ISO 12100:2010. Safety of Machinery-General Principles for Design -Risk Assessment and Risk Reduction; International Organization for Standardization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2010.
- ISO 13849-1:2015. Safety of Machinery-Safety-Related Parts of Control Systems-Part 1: General Principles for Design; International Organization for Standardization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2015.
- 12. IEC/EN 62061. Safety of machinery: Functional safety of electrical, electronic and programmable electronic control systems. International Electrotechnical Commission.
- ISO 13850:2015. Safety of Machinery-Emergency Stop Function-Principles for Design; International Organization for Standardization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2015.

- ISO 13851: 2019. Safety of machinery Two-hand control devices Principles for design and selection; International Organization for Standardization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2019.
- 15. ISO 10218-1:2011. Robots and Robotic Devices-Safety Requirements for Industrial Robots-Part1: Robots; International Organization for Standardization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2011.
- 16. ISO 10218-2:2011. Robots and Robotic Devices-Safety Requirements for Industrial Robots-Part2: Robot Systems and Integration; International Organization for Standardization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2011.
- 17. ISO\TS 15066:2016. Robots and Robotic Devices: Collaborative Robots; International Organization for Standardization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2011.
- Di Marino, C., Rega, A., Vitolo, F., Patalano, S., Lanzotti, A.: The anthropometric basis for the designing of collaborative workplaces. In: 2019 II Workshop on Metrology for Industry 4.0 and IoT (MetroInd4. 0&IoT), pp. 98-102. IEEE (2019).
- 19. Di Marino, C., Rega, A., Vitolo, F., Patalano, S., Lanzotti, A.: A new approach to the anthropometric design of human-robot collaborative environments, ACTA IMEKO, 9 (4), 80-87 (2020).
- Rega, A., Marino, C. D., Vitolo, F., Patalano, S., & Lanzotti, A: Towards the Upscaling of Biomanufacturing Process Enhanced by Human-Robot Collaboration. In: International Conference on Design, Simulation, Manufacturing: The Innovation Exchange (pp. 615-622). Springer, Cham, (2021).
- 21. Pini, F., Leali, F., Ansaloni, M.: A systematic approach to the engineering design of a HRC workcell for bio-medical product assembly. In: 2015 IEEE 20th Conference on Emerging Technologies & Factory Automation (ETFA), pp. 1-8. IEEE (2015).
- Tsarouchi, P., Spiliotopoulos, J., Michalos, G., Koukas, S., Athanasatos, A., Makris. S., Chryssolouris, G.: A decision making framework for human robot collaborative workplace generation. Procedia CIRP, 44, 228-232 (2016).
- Rega, A., Di Marino, C., Pasquariello, A., Vitolo, F., Patalano, S., Zanella, A., Lanzotti, A.: Collaborative Workplace Design: A Knowledge-Based Approach to Promote Human–Robot Collaboration and Multi-Objective Layout Optimization. Applied Sciences, 11(24), 12147 (2021).
- Bazaraa, M.; Sherali, H.; Shetty, C. Nonlinear Programming: Theory and Algorithms; Wiley: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2005; p. 853.



UNIONE EUROPEA Fondo Sociale Europeo







Dottorando	Dr. Rega Andrea
Tutor	Prof. Vincenzo D'Antò
Coordinatore	Prof. Francesco Beguinot
Corso di Dottorato	Dottorato di Ricerca in Medicina Clinica e Sperimentale
Ciclo	34°
Codice borsa	DOT1318210 - Borsa 1
CUP	E66C18000940007
Titolo Progetto	Progettazione di strutture 3D avanzate custom-made con specifiche proprietà magnetiche per la rigenerazione guidata del tessuto osseo

La borsa di dottorato è stata cofinanziata con risorse del Programma Operativo Nazionale Ricerca e Innovazione 2014-2020 (CCI 2014IT16M2OP005), Fondo Sociale Europeo, Azione I.1 "Dottorati Innovativi con caratterizzazione Industriale"



UNIONE EUROPEA Fondo Sociale Europeo



